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Australian Ethical Investment Ltd today announced its full year results for the year ended 30 
June 2011. 

Financial results 

Key points: 
 
 
Net profit after tax (NPAT) $1.3 M +25% on previous year 

FUM at 30 June 2011 
(before distribution) 

$644.1 M +4.9% on previous year 

Revenues $15.1 M +7.6% on previous year 

Expenses $13.2 M +5.9 on previous year 

Return on Equity  17.1% Up from 12.5% for 2009/10 

Earnings per share (basic) 128.8 cents +25% on previous year 

 
 
These results should be read in light of one-off events during the year, namely: 
 

o employment restructure expenses of $445,000; and 
 

o an acquisition fee of $651,000 received from the Australian Ethical Property Trust in 
relation to the purchase of the Lawley House property (see below). 

 
After taking these items into account, the result is a decrease in underlying NPAT of 26%.  
This result is summarised in the table below.   
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Final and Special Dividends  

The Board has declared a final dividend of $1.00 per share resulting in a full year dividend 
of $1.45.  
 
In addition, following a review of the balance sheet, the future capital requirements of the 
business and other issues, the Board has declared a special dividend of $0.25 per share.  
 

The record date for both dividends is Friday, 23 September 2011.  They will be paid on 
Friday, 7 October 2011. 

 
In declaring these dividends the Board considered: 

o regulatory requirements; 

o internal operational and strategic requirements; 

o the franking account balance and its value to shareholders; 

o current global market uncertainty and the maturity of the business; and  

o the strong positive cash flow position of the Company. 

 
The dividend reinvestment plan will not operate in respect of these payments. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2010 2011 Change 
Funds under management $613.8 million $644.1 million 5%

613.8 644.1
$000 $000

Revenue 14,068 15,144 8%
Expenses (11,661) (12,367) (6%)
Operating profit 2,407 2,777 15%
Community grants (125) (153)
EBITDA 2,282 2,624 15%
Depreciation/amortisation/options/rights (676) (677) (0%)
Tax (583) (665) (14%)
Net profit after tax 1,023 1,282 25%

Underlying profit
Adjustments (gross)
   - Add back employment restructure expenses 482 445
   - Add back impact of fee revenue error 261 -               
   - Deduct acquisition fee Lawley house -               (651)
Tax on adjustments (223) 62
Net underlying profit after tax 1,543 1,138 (26%)
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Over the last two financial years the dividend payments are as follows: 
 

 

 

Review of operations 

Comments on financial results 
 
Funds management and superannuation companies currently face one of their most 
challenging environments for many years due to the following external factors: 

 
o Global markets continue to be volatile leading to subdued valuations of portfolios 

and hence revenues based on funds under management; 
 

o Net flows to managed funds are under pressure across the industry due to investors 
continued nervousness with investing in the market as well as a trend generally 
toward investing directly and outside of the managed fund environment; 
 

o Regulatory changes are leading to an environment where up-front fees are 
disappearing and the relationship with advisors is evolving. 
 

The Company’s results should be read with these dynamics in mind. 

 
o Funds under management increased by $30.3 million, $21.6 million due to net 

inflows and $8.7 million due to market movements.  
 
o Net inflows of $21.6 million reflected positive inflows of $31.4 million to our 

superannuation fund (up from $27.9 million last year) offset by $9.8m of net outflows 
from our managed funds products ($4.9 million net inflow last year). This pressure 
on managed funds outflows is occurring across the industry.   

 
o Revenues increased by $1.1 million representing an increase of 8% over the 

previous year. A significant impact on revenue for the year was the acquisition fee 
paid by the Australian Ethical Property Trust for the purchase of Lawley House.  

 
Removing this transaction leads to underlying revenue growth of 1%, which is lower 
than the growth in funds under management. This slower revenue growth is due to a 
reduction in fees on inflows and an overall reduction in our average revenue margin 
due to a greater portion of our business coming from the wholesale investment 
market.  

 

2010 2011

Interim (cents per share) 50 45
Final (cents per share) 50 100
Special (cents per share) 100 25
Total (cents per share) 200 170
Dividend paid ($m) 2.0               1.7               
Payout ratio (% of net profit after tax) 194% 132%
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o Operating expenses increased by $0.7 million, an increase of 6% over the previous 
year. Total expenses included costs associated with employment restructures during 
the year of $445,000.   
 

o After adjusting for employment restructure costs, employment costs increased by 
2% being largely due to a general wages and salary increase provided to staff half 
way through the year. 

 
o Superannuation administration costs increased by 17%. This reflects a 4% increase 

in average member numbers and a 7% increase in administration charges under the 
contract.   
 

o Other increases in expenses reflect increased investment in information technology 
and connectivity to more efficiently perform our core investment management and 
client service functions. Increased depreciation related to office fit outs and video 
conferencing facilities have also impacted on the result.  

 
o $152,802 has been provisioned for payment to charitable and conservation 

organisations under our community grants program. The Company’s constitution 
requires that 10% of operating profit, after notional tax, be paid to non profit 
organisations involved in charitable, benevolent or conservation purposes. Staff are 
actively involved in the selection of the organisations that receive community grants.   
 

• $1,276,864, including the amount above, has now been paid by Australian Ethical to 
charitable and conservation organisations under the community grants program 
since inception. 

 
 

Other comments on the year under review 
 
Business restructuring 

During the year a number of changes have been made to the business leading to some 
redundancies and changes to people’s roles.  These changes are driven by: 

• an investment in, and restructuring of the “front end” of the business; sales, 
marketing and client service; 

• the implementation of a new asset management system and the decommissioning 
of an old system; and  

• a search for efficiencies to ensure that we’re best positioned to operate in what is a 
more challenging environment.  

Where possible, headcount has been reduced through natural attrition. 

These changes have had an impact on staff morale in some parts of the business.  This is 
being addressed.  A new, full time, Human Resources Manager is providing considerable 
support in this regard. 

Restructure of Sales and Marketing 

Our sales and marketing area has been successfully restructured with the employment of 
two new executives in the senior management team and a realignment of team 
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responsibilities to enhance synergies between sales, marketing and client relationship 
management.  

Adam Kirk joined us to lead the business development and client relationship team.  Adam 
has a background in leading similar teams with Colonial First State, Skandia and Catholic 
Super.  

Paul Smith joined us to lead our strategy, marketing and communications.  Paul has a 
background in asset consulting, investment analysis and marketing with the likes of 
Schroders, Invesco/Perpetual (UK) and Carbon Planet.  

Founders  

During the year two of the founders of Australian Ethical, Howard Pender and James Thier 
left their executive positions after many years of service.  James and Howard were both 
involved with the company when it was founded in 1986 and have each contributed 
enormously to its success over the years.  We thank them for all their contribution and 
efforts. 

Client service improvements 

We continue to make improvements to our client service function, a core area of the 
business.  During the course of the year we commenced a proactive sales follow up and 
relationship management program.  We also in-sourced our superannuation call centre from 
our service provider, Pillar.  All initial calls are now managed by Australian Ethical leading to 
a more consistent client service experience.  

Marketing improvements 

We have made a number of improvements in the way in which we market and service our 
products.  We have made significant improvements to the interactivity and ease of use of 
the website including allowing clients and employers to join our superfund online.  This has 
resulted  in an almost doubling of our new client uptake on a monthly basis.  We are 
implementing a co-ordinated social media strategy and improved the targeting of advertising 
to our audience, which has led to better coverage at lower cost; halving our marketing 
acquisition cost per new client.  

Climate Advocacy Fund 

Our Climate Advocacy Fund had its first full year of operation and put three resolutions to 
companies to improve their carbon emissions disclosure and performance.  Resolutions 
were put to Aquila, Paladin and Woodside.  The Climate Advocacy Fund also engaged with 
Oil Search but did not formally put a resolution to Oil Search’s AGM.  Of these, we consider 
we obtained a positive outcome from Aquila, Paladin and Oil Search.  Whilst Woodside 
didn’t accede to our request we obtained a 6% vote in support of our resolution, far in 
excess of our investment. 

Purchase of property for property trust 

During the year we purchased Lawley House for the Australian Ethical Property Trust.  The 
Australian Ethical Property Trust invests in green buildings and social infrastructure and is 
the main source of such investment exposure for our superannuation fund and balanced 
trust.  Lawley House is located in Canberra and is currently used by the Australian Federal 
Police as a training college.  It is the first social infrastructure addition to the property trust.  
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Despite the uncertainty in investment markets and the changing regulatory environment, we 
remain positive and optimistic for the future for Australian Ethical. We have responded  to 
this new environment with some internal restructurings and have maintained good 
profitability through this period of change.  

We continue to be well positioned within the ethical investment market and, with an 
increased awareness of issues such as climate change, there is a growing recognition 
amongst investors of the need to invest and save in a more ethically positive way. 
Continued investment in, and improvement to our products, sales, marketing and client 
service should see us strengthen that position.   

For further information please contact: 

Gary Leckie 
Chief Financial Officer 
Tel: 02 6201 1907 

End. 
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Released 31 August 2011 
 
This report comprises information required by the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX) 
under listing rule 4.3A, Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
• Announcement to the market 
• Directors’ report 
• Auditor’s independence declaration 
• Financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2011 
• Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2011 
• Directors’ declaration 
• Independent audit report 
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Australian Ethical Investment Limited and Controlled Entity 
Results for announcement to the market 
For the year ended 30 June 2011

Revenue and net profit (consolidated)   $A

Revenue from ordinary activities   up 8% to 15,143,951

Profit from ordinary activities after tax    
attributable to members  up 25% to 1,282,533

Net profit for the period attributable to members  up 25% to 1,282,533

Dividends (distributions)  Amount per Franked amount Record date * 
security per security 

Interim dividend 45 cents 45 cents 11/03/2011

Final dividend 100 cents 100 cents 23/09/2011

Special dividend 25 cents 25 cents 23/09/2011

* Record date for determining entitlements to the dividend

Brief explanation of revenue, net profit and dividends   

Refer announcement, accompanying directors' report, financial statements and notes.  

Net tangible asset (NTA) backing   30/06/2011 30/06/2010
$ $

Net tangible asset backing per ordinary security   7.60 8.06

Refer announcement, accompanying directors' report, financial statements and notes.  
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Directors’ report 
 
The directors of Australian Ethical Investment Limited, the controlling entity, present their 
report on the company and its controlled entity for the financial year ended 30 June 2011. In 
compliance with the Corporations Act 2001, the directors report as follows: 

 
 

Directors 
 
The name of each person who has been a director during the year ended 30 June 2011 and 
to the date of this report are: 
 
Name Time in 

office 
 

James Thier  19 years Directorship ceased 17 November 2010 
Howard Pender 19 years  
Naomi Edwards 5 years Resigned 23 March 2011 
Justine Hickey 4 years  
Les Coleman  3 years  
André Morony  3 years  
Phillip Vernon 1 year  
Stephen Newnham < 1 year Appointed 20 December 2010 
 
Directors have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report 
unless otherwise stated. 
 
 
Company secretaries 
 
The name of each person who was a company secretary of the company as at the end of 
the financial year are: 
 
Name 
Tom May 
Gary Leckie 
 
 
Principal activities 
 
The principal activity of the controlling entity during the financial year was to manage seven 
public offer ethical managed funds (registered managed investment schemes).  The 
controlling entity’s wholly owned subsidiary, Australian Ethical Superannuation Pty Limited, 
was trustee of the Australian Ethical Retail Superannuation Fund during the financial year.    
 
Other than as described in this report, there were no significant changes in the nature of the 
controlling entities activities during the year. 
 
 
Review of operations 
 
The consolidated entity, Australian Ethical (Australian Ethical Investment Limited and its 
wholly owned subsidiary, Australian Ethical Superannuation Pty Ltd), has recorded a 
consolidated net profit after income tax expense for the year ending 30 June 2011 of 
$1,282,533, a 25% increase on the result of the previous financial year. 
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Return on equity for the year is 17.1%, up from 12.5% in 2009-10.  Earnings per share has 
increased 25% to 128.8 cents per share and the cost to income ratio has reduced slightly to 
87%. 
 
Average funds under management (FUM) grew by 5.5% with the year end FUM (before 
distribution) being $644 million compared to $614 million for the prior year end. 

   
Our inflows have remained resilient in a tough managed funds market and grown by 2% for 
the year ended 30 June 2011.  Inflow growth has been centred around our superannuation 
fund.  Inflow growth has been offset by a reduction in our entry fee margin as we adjust our 
business model to accommodate regulatory change (entry fee changes to our 
superannuation fund, implemented in May 2010).  
 
The reported result has been affected by two significant one-off issues: 

• Employment restructure expenses of $445,000; and 
• Acquisition fee revenue of $651,000 paid by the Australian Ethical Property Trust as 

per the trust constitution in relation to the purchase of Lawley House. 
 
In a challenging market we continue to work on and improve our client service and marketing 
initiatives.  During the year we in-sourced our superannuation call centre with all initial calls 
managed by Australian Ethical, enabling a better client service experience.  We also made 
improvements to our website and introduced an online joining facility for our superfund, 
virtually doubling our new client numbers.   
 
During the year our sales and marketing area was restructured and addressing the 
challenges facing our industry is a high priority. 
 
 
Financial Position 
 
At the year end, Australian Ethical net assets are $7,628,812.  The company has no debt 
and is generating positive returns and cash flow. 
 
 
Dividends 
 
Dividends paid or declared by the company to members since the end of the previous 
financial year were: 
 
 Cents per 

Share 
Total amount 

$ 
Franked/ 

unfranked 
Date of 

payment 

Declared and paid during the financial year      

Final 2010 50 496,570 Franked 15/10/2010 

Special 2010 100 993,141 Franked 15/10/2010 

Interim 2011 45 449,061 Franked 25/03/2011 

Total  1,938,772   

Declared after end of year     
After balance sheet date, the directors declared the 
following dividend:     

Final 2011 100 997,913 Franked 7/10/2011 

Special 2011 25 249,478 Franked 7/10/2011 
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Events subsequent to reporting date 
 
Since reporting date the global equity markets have experienced significant volatility as a 
result of uncertainties related to European sovereign debt and United States debt and 
budget management.  A large proportion of the FUM managed by the company is linked to 
domestic and international securities markets.  This could potentially have a detrimental 
impact on company revenue for the coming financial year. 
 
No other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which 
significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of Australian Ethical 
Investment Ltd and its controlled entity, the results of those operations or the state of affairs 
of Australian Ethical Investment Ltd in financial years subsequent to the financial year ended 
30 June 2011, other than as outlined in this report. 
 
 
Likely developments and business strategies 
 
Further information about likely developments and business strategies in the operations of 
the consolidated entity and the expected results of those operations in future financial years 
has been addressed in the ASX announcement accompanying our Appendix 4E disclosures. 
 
 
Directors’ indemnification 
 
The constitution of the controlling entity provides a general indemnity for officers of the 
company against liabilities incurred in that capacity, including costs and expenses in 
successfully defending legal proceedings.  
 
During the financial year, the company paid a premium to insure the directors (named 
above), the company secretary and all officers of the company and of any related body 
corporate against a liability incurred as a director, secretary or officer to the extent permitted 
by the Corporations Act 2001.  The contract of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of 
the liability and the amount of the premium. 
 
During the year the company entered into or maintained deeds of indemnity, insurance and 
access (The Deed) with directors and officers which provides a general indemnity against 
liabilities incurred in that capacity to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
The Deed obligates the company to use its reasonable endeavours to obtain and maintain 
insurance for the benefit of a director or officer of the company and any subsidiary, to the 
extent that such coverage is available in the market on terms which the company reasonably 
considers financially prudent and on terms consistent with the practice of comparable 
companies operating in similar markets. 
 
The Deed also provides that the company will pay on behalf of the director or officer or lend 
to the director or officer the amount necessary to pay the reasonable legal costs incurred by 
the director or officer in defending an action for a liability incurred as a director or officer of 
the company or a subsidiary on such terms as the company reasonably determines.  The 
director or officer must repay to the company such legal costs if they become legal costs for 
which the company was not permitted by law to indemnify the director or officer.  The 
company need not pay or provide a loan to the director or officer to the extent that the 
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director or officer is actually reimbursed for legal costs as they fall due under an insurance 
policy or otherwise. 
 
The company has not otherwise, during or since the financial year, indemnified or agreed to 
indemnify a director, officer or auditor of the company or of any related body corporate 
against a liability incurred as such director, officer or auditor. 
 
 
Directors’ particulars 
 
Qualifications, experience and special responsibilities 

André Morony 
B.Ec.(Hons), M.Ec., Non-Executive Chairperson 
 

André started his 40 years in the finance sector at the Commonwealth Treasury, where he 
worked in a number of financial policy areas and also represented Australia for three years 
at the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development in Paris. He then had 
various roles at Bankers Trust Australia (BT) including as Chief Economist and Chief 
Investment Officer where he was responsible for over $40 billion of investments. From 
2001-2006, André was Chief Investment Officer at ARIA, the Australian Government 
employees’ $16 billion superannuation fund. André currently sits on the boards of RBS 
Funds Management (Australia) Ltd and is on the investment committee for GESB, the 
Western Australian Government employee superannuation fund. André chairs the 
remuneration and nominations committee and is a member of the board’s investment 
committee. 

Naomi Edwards 
B.Sc.(Hons), FIA FIAA, Non-Executive Chairperson (resigned 23 March 2011) 

Naomi is a Fellow of the Institute of Actuaries and has a high level of financial experience 
with practical conservation and environmental links.  Naomi was Partner in charge of the 
financial services industry group within Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu in Sydney and leader of 
the financial services practice for Trowbridge Consulting for many years.  She has 
undertaken pro bono work providing actuarial assistance for environmental and social 
organisations.  Naomi chaired the remuneration and nominations committee and was a 
member of the audit, compliance and risk committee. Naomi was also a director of 
Australian Ethical Superannuation Pty Ltd. 

Howard Pender 
B.A.(Hons), Executive Director 

 
Howard received a university medal in economics from the Australian National University. 
He worked at the Commonwealth Treasury and then as senior economist at Bankers Trust in 
Sydney. From 1992 to 1997, he was a visiting fellow in the Centre for International and 
Public Law at the Australian National University. Howard has been a director of two other 
Australian Securities Exchange-listed companies. Howard is a director of Australian Ethical 
Superannuation Pty Ltd and is a member of the board’s investment committee. Howard was 
the company’s project manager for its multi-award winning 6 Star Green Star rated building 
and worked on the establishment and the operation of the Climate Advocacy Fund.   
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James Thier 
B.Sc. (Hons), Executive Director (Directorship ceased 17 November 2010) 
 

James has had academic experience as a researcher and has taught in the faculties of 
economics, environmental studies and geography at the University of New South Wales. He 
has held senior positions in local government and within peak bodies of the credit union 
movement. James was the company’s business development manager. James is also a 
director of Australian Ethical Superannuation Pty Ltd.  James was previously awarded a 
Churchill Fellowship to examine the mechanisms of shareholder advocacy. 
 
Justine Hickey 
B.Com, GAICD, SAFin, ASIP, Non-Executive Director 
 
Justine has 20 years experience as a senior executive and director in the investment and 
funds management industry. As an executive she worked at Suncorp Investment 
Management in Brisbane and Flemings Investment Management (now JP Morgan) in 
London.  Justine is a director of Rio Tinto Staff Super Fund Pty Ltd and member of the 
investment committees of Dalton Nicol Reid and the University of Melbourne.  Justine has an 
active interest in philanthropy, chairing the Evolve Foundation and is a director of RSPCA 
QLD. At AEI, Justine chairs the investment committee and is a member of the remuneration 
and nominations committee. 

Les Coleman 
B.Eng.(Hons), B.Sc.(Hons), M.Ec., PhD, Non-Executive Director 

 
Les has been a trustee of two superannuation funds, and a director of ten companies 
involved in finance, retail and distribution. He has over 20 years experience in senior 
operational, planning and finance roles in Australia and overseas with Anglo American 
Corporation and ExxonMobil Corporation. He is currently a member of the investment 
committee of United Funds Management (a subsidiary of IOOF Holdings Limited), and since 
2004 has taught in the Finance Department of the University of Melbourne. His particular 
research interests are corporate risk and non-financial indicators of superior firm 
performance, especially ethics and sustainability. He is a regular contributor to print and 
broadcast media, including four years as a weekly columnist with The Australian newspaper, 
and has published several books and numerous articles and papers.  Les is on the audit, 
compliance and risk committee. 

Phillip Vernon 
BEc MCom MBA FCPA, Managing Director  

Appointed 27 July 2010 
 
Phillip has 25 years experience in financial services covering funds management, capital 
markets and superannuation. He was a member of the executive committee of Perpetual 
Limited heading up its Corporate Trust division. He also has extensive experience in 
corporate governance and industry regulation, having been the Chairman of the Australian 
Securitisation Forum. Phillip has a long held interest in sustainability and corporate social 
responsibility and is a director of Planet Ark, an environmental not for profit organisation. 
 

Stephen Charles Newnham 
Non-Executive Director  

Appointed 20 December 2010 
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Steve has over 20 years experience in the distribution and marketing aspects of the industry. 
For the last six years Steve has consulted to Lonsec Limited on the marketing and 
distribution of their research and stockbroking services.  Prior to that , Steve was head of 
distribution at Zurich Financial Services for four years, involved in investment, life and 
general insurance products and services. During this time he was also chairman of a 
financial planning dealer group of about 180 advisers, director of a wrap platform and 
director of an adviser administration and back office services business. Steve spent 13 years 
at BT including time as the executive vice president responsible for the national distribution 
of BT’s retail products through a period of significant growth and market success for BT.  In 
addition, Steve has had significant involvement with community and social justice issues, 
where he has worked on homeless shelter support schemes, indigenous fellowship 
programmes, environmental and drought relief projects and mental health awareness 
initiatives. Steve is on the audit, compliance and risk committee. 

Directors’ meetings 
 
The number of directors’ meetings (including meetings of committees of directors of which 
not all directors are members) and number of meetings attended by each of the directors of 
the controlling entity during the financial year are set out below. 
 

Director  Board   Investment  Remuneration 
and nominations 

Audit, 
compliance and 

risk  
Eligible Attend Eligible Attend Eligible Attend Eligible Attend 

James Thier  3 3 - - - - - - 
Howard Pender 7 7 4 4 - - - - 
Naomi Edwards 4 4 - - 1 1 4 4 
Justine Hickey 7 7 4 4 2 2 - - 
Andre Morony 7 7 4 4 1 1 - - 
Les Coleman 7 7 - - - - 6 6 
Phillip Vernon 7 7 - - - - - - 
Stephen Newnham 4 4 - - - - 3 3 
 
Directorships held in other listed entities in the last three years 
 

Name Entity Period of directorship 
Justine Hickey Hyperion Flagship Investments 

Limited 
3 years 

André Morony Macquarie Private Capital Group 
Limited 

1 years 

 
Directors’ relevant interests in securities of the company 
 

Parent entity directors
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

Directors continuing at 30 
June 2011
Howard Pender 49,852           49,852           1,326             2,839           -                     320                
Justine Hickey 1,200             700                -                     -                   -                     -                     
Phillip Vernon -                     -                     -                     -                   2,798             317                

Directors not - continuing 
at 30 June 2011
James Thier 51,367           51,367           1,364             2,881           -                     319                

Performance rightsShare option numbersFully paid ordinary shares 
numbers
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Directors’ holdings in registered schemes made available by the company 
 
None of the current directors have holdings in the registered schemes made available by the 
company.  
 
Several directors are members of the Australian Ethical Retail Superannuation Fund. 
 
 
Employment contracts of directors and senior managers 
For each individual whose remuneration has been disclosed in this report and is currently 
employed under an employment contract, the details of the employment contract are as 
follows: 
 
 
Name Duration of contract Period of 

termination 
notice required 

Termination payment 
provided for under the 
contract 

Phillip Vernon Ongoing 12 weeks None except for accrued 
leave and any payment 
in lieu of notice. 

Gary Leckie Ongoing 12 weeks 
Philip George Ongoing 12 weeks 
James Jordan Ongoing 12 weeks 

 
 
Options and rights as at the date of this report 
 
Options/rights over unissued shares as at the date of this report are as follows: 
 
Options 
reference 

Number of options on 
issue 

Exercise period  Exercise price 

AEFAU 29,704 14/10/11 to 13/1/12 $32.27 
AEFAV 2,690 14/10/11 to 13/1/12 $32.27 
Total s 32,394 

 
All options are over unissued shares in the company.  Unexercised options expire at the end 
of the exercise period.  No option holder has any right under the options to participate in any 
other share issue of the company or of any other entity. 
 
Performance 
rights reference 

Number of rights on 
issue 

AEFAW 7,914 
AEFAY 19,624 
AEFAZ 4,760 
Totals  32,298 

 
All performance rights are over unissued shares in the company.  Performance rights expire 
if the performance conditions are not met at the end of the performance period.  No holder of 
performance rights is entitled to, by virtue of holding the performance rights, to participate in 
any other share issue of the company or of any other entity. 
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Shares issued upon the exercise of options 
 
4,772 ordinary shares of the company were issued during the year ended 30 June 2011 on 
the conversion of performance rights granted under the company’s employee share 
ownership plan.  
 
No further shares have been issued since that date to the date of this report.  No amounts 
are unpaid on any of the shares. 
 
Non-director committee members and company secretar y particulars 
 

Name Qualifications Experience 
Ruth Medd B.Sc., Dip Comp 

Science, CPA, 
MAICD 

Ruth is currently on the board of the NFAW Ltd (National Foundation for 
Australian Women) and WOB Pty Ltd. Ruth is Chair of the company’s 
wholly-owned subsidiary Australian Ethical Superannuation Pty Ltd.  Ruth 
also chairs the company’s audit, compliance and risk committees.  Ruth 
started in IT in the 1970s. Since then she has been a senior public 
servant, a broadcasting regulator, the inaugural Company Secretary at 
Telstra and the Executive Director of an industry association. 

Philip 
George 

BSc LLB ACIS Philip has experience in commercial law, corporate governance and 
project management.  He has been a company secretary and legal 
counsel for listed companies for over seven years.  He was a senior 
associate at the national law firm Minter Ellison and conducted a 
commercial legal practice in partnership for two years. 

Gary 
Leckie 

BEc CA Gary is a Chartered Accountant who is responsible for the fiscal 
management and operational activities of the Australian Ethical group. 
Gary has more than ten years experience in the financial services 
industry. Prior to working in the financial services industry Gary  was 
employed with big four accounting firm Deloitte. 

Tom May BA LLB MBA Tom has experience in the superannuation and distribution aspects of 
financial services law.  He has been a lawyer since 1990 when he was a 
legal officer in the federal government.  He subsequently worked in house 
with funds management and life insurance companies before working in 
private practice in London and Tokyo. 

 
 
Auditor’s declaration 
 
A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the 
Corporations Act 2001 forms part of this report and follows at the end of the report.  
 
 
Non-audit services 
 
The directors, in accordance with advice from the audit committee, are satisfied that the 
provision of the non-audit services by the auditor during the year is compatible with the 
general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001.  The 
directors are satisfied that the services disclosed in the financial report did not compromise 
the external auditor’s independence because the provision of non-audit services is minor 
and in most cases is ancillary or related to audit activities.  The directors are not aware of 
any circumstances that would prevent the external auditor from exercising objective and 
impartial judgement in relation to the conduct of the audit.   
 
Details of non-audit services provided by the auditor are set out in Note 2 of the attached 
financial report. 
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Other specific information 
 
The company’s shares have traded on the ASX since 17 December 2002.  Movements in 
closing share price at the beginning and end of financial years since listing are as follows: 
 

Date Closing daily price1  

17 December 2002 $12.50 

30 June 2003 $11.30 

30 June 2004 $13.00 

30 June 2005 $17.20 

30 June 2006 $28.50 

30 June 2007 $48.00 

30 June 2008 $34.00 

30 June 2009 $22.00 

30 June 2010 $23.20 

30 June 2011 $19.10 

 
 
The company’s earnings over the last five years are as follows: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Other specific information has been disclosed in the attached financial report as referenced 
in the table below: 
 

Disclosure Financial Statement Reference 
Dividends Note 5 
Rights – issued during the financial year 
and since the end of the financial year2 

Note 25 

 
 
 
 

                                                      
1 Where shares were not traded on the day specified, the price quoted is the closing daily price when 
trades did occur on the day earlier than and closest to the date specified.  
2 The financial statements show rights issued during the financial year. No rights have been issued 
since the end of the financial year to the date of this report. 

Year Earnings 

2005-2006 $1,362,612 

2006-2007 $1,819,177 

2007-2008 $1,651,790 

2008-2009 $1,202,752 

2009-2010 $1,022,555 

2010-2011 $1,282,533 
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The Remuneration Report is subject to audit by the Company’s external auditor. 

Names and positions of key management personnel (di rectors and named executives) 
at any time during the financial year 

Parent Entity Directors 

Name Position  

James Thier  Director, non-executive Retired 17 November 2010 
Howard Pender Director, executive  
Naomi Edwards Chairperson, non-executive Resigned 23 March 2011 
Justine Hickey Director, non-executive  
Les Coleman Director, non-executive  
André Morony Director, non-executive  
Phillip Vernon Director, executive Appointed 27 July 2010 
Stephen Newnham Director, non-executive Appointed 20 December 2010 

 

Executives 

Name Position  

James Jordan Chief investment officer  
Philip George Head of client services and product  
Gary Leckie Chief financial officer / chief operating 

officer 
 

Paul Harding Davis Head of distribution Employment ended on 5 January 
2011 

Tim Xirakis Head of client relationships Employment ended on 8 August 2011 
 

The Corporations Act 2001 requires disclosure of compensation of key management 
personnel.  Key management personnel is defined as persons having authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity, directly or 
indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of that entity. 

 

The Corporations Act 2001 also requires disclosure of the remuneration of: 

1. each of the five named company executives who receive the highest remuneration for 
that year; and 

2. if consolidated financial statements are required – each of the five named relevant group 
executives who receive the highest remuneration for that year. 

The above named directors and executives are key management personnel of the 
consolidated entity. 
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Remuneration Policy 

Directors 

The aggregate amount of remuneration payable to non-executive directors for the 
performance of their duties as directors is set by the company in a general meeting.  

In proposing any motions on non-executive director remuneration to a general meeting, the 
Board has regard to market rates for directorships in comparable companies operating in 
similar industries.  It also takes into account recommendations from the Remuneration and 
Nominations Committee. 

Within the approved aggregate amount, fees paid to individual non-executive directors for 
services as a non-executive director are determined by the Board.  During the relevant 
period, the Chair received a higher amount, with other non-executive directors all receiving 
equal amounts. 

Under the constitution, non-executive directors are also entitled to be paid reasonable 
expenses, remuneration for additional services and superannuation contributions.  In 
particular, non-executive directors are paid for serving on board committees. 

Non executive director remuneration is not linked to company performance. 

Executive directors receive remuneration as employees of the company. 

There are no arrangements to pay any director a retirement benefit. 

Other Key Management Personnel 

Board Policy: 

The Board’s policy for determining the nature and amount of remuneration for key 
management personnel of the consolidated group is covered by the same policy that applies 
to all staff and includes the following: 

“Flexible remuneration strategies will be developed as required to meet specific 
employee requirements, facilitate retention/maintenance of a high quality work force 
and to ensure employees are rewarded relative to their input to the organisation. 

Important points are: 

• Participation in specific remuneration arrangements may be on an individual 
or team basis. 

• Eligibility to participate in specific remuneration arrangements is dependant 
on the role, responsibilities, scope and impact of individual employees or 
teams in the case of a team based scheme. 

• Recommendations for individual employees or teams to participate in such 
schemes will be made by individual Section Managers. 



Australian Ethical Investment Limited                                          
A.B.N 47 003 188 930 
and Controlled Entity 

 

Remuneration Report 

12 

 

• Details will be negotiated on an individual basis with relevant employees or 
teams. 

Flexible remuneration strategies may include cash or share based rewards.” 

Assessment of the Managing Director’s performance and whether performance conditions 
are met is completed by the Chair and is overseen by the Board with input from the 
Remuneration and Nominations Committee.  In turn, the Managing Director is responsible 
for assessing senior management and whether performance conditions are met.  In all 
reviews, both quantitative and qualitative data is used to determine whether performance 
criteria are achieved. 

During the year remuneration arrangements for a number of KMP were reviewed and 
updated.  New key performance indicators (KPI) and related individual STIs were 
established centred around criterion including achievement of individual performance goals, 
performance of the company’s managed funds, net flows, relationship development, 
earnings per share growth and achievement of budget.   

For these revised arrangements assessment of KMP performance will be based on results 
for the current year and any STI payments or grant of rights will be made after year end 
based on these assessments. 

 

Hedging policy 

Directors and executives participating in the company’s equity-based plans are prohibited 
from entering into any transaction which would have the effect of hedging or otherwise 
transferring to any other person the risk of any fluctuation in the value of any unvested 
entitlement in the company’s securities. 

 

Performance-based Remuneration and Company Performa nce 

The Board policy and remuneration arrangement review is generally aiming to: 

o Achieve some level of market parity on remuneration packages; 

o Establish performance incentives for KMP which are outcomes focused and aligned 
with company goals; 

o Establish alignment of KMP remuneration with shareholder value and interests; and 

o Provide a retention aspect for high performing managers.  

More specifically performance criteria were chosen to ensure alignment between the 
strategic priorities of the organisation, as established by the Board and individual objectives. 
The aim was to provide senior employees of the Company with an ownership of AEI’s 
strategic direction, greater job clarity, flexibility to plan individual goals and objectives, and 
an opportunity to develop in their roles.   
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Individual Bonuses 

During the current year two KMP were paid specific “at risk” components in remuneration.  
The payments are shown in the following tables. The service and performance criteria 
used to determine the amount of the payments were established prior to the current year 
and are generally as follows: 

1. James Thier – seminar, speaking and media penetration targets;  engagement with 
dealer groups and advisors; and promotion of the new Climate Advocacy Fund; 

2. Paul Harding-Davis – managing to budget; net inflow targets; engagement with 
dealer groups and engagement with asset consultants; 

3. James Jordan – stock research objectives and fund investment performance.

 

Employee Share Incentive Schemes 

Under the employee incentive schemes, a pool of performance rights which would, if 
exercised, amount to 5% of the company’s existing ordinary share capital, was made 
available.  This scheme was approved at the 2008 Annual General meeting.   

The corporate employee share incentive scheme (ESIS) is split into two categories: general 
and individual.  

All employees, including KMP, participate in the general ESIS.  The number of performance 
rights issued to each employee is based on their relative remuneration.   

The individual ESIS is utilised for senior and professional employees.  The number of 
performance rights issued is based more specifically on individual performance and KPIs.  

Subject to the terms and conditions of the scheme rules, the performance rights that have 
been issued during the current year have the following attributes determining whether shares 
will be issued in respect of the rights: 

a) General Category 

• Employment must continue until 30 June 2013 
• The arithmetic average return on equity over the performance period (AROE) must 

exceed 15% per annum or no shares shall be awarded at the end of the performance 
period 

• If the AROE exceeds 15% per annum but is less than 20% per annum, half the 
maximum number of shares shall be awarded 

• If the AROE is equal to or greater than 20% per annum the maximum number of 
shares shall be awarded 

• AROE is determined as the arithmetic average of return on equity over six month 
periods calculated using audited half-year financial statements 

• The performance period is three financial years being 2010-11, 2011-12, 2012-13 
 

b) Individual Category 
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• Employment must continue until 1 July 2011 
• The number of shares that will be issues to each employee in respect of their 

performance rights under this category will be adjusted up or down by a maximum 
20%, dependent of the absolute performance of the company’s managed investment 
schemes, for which the employee has responsibility or provides significant input.  The 
nominated managed investment scheme has been agreed between the company 
and the employee.  Performance will be measured over a performance period of 1 
July 2010 to 30 June 2011. 

 
Performance rights issued under the general category (above) are performance-based in 
two ways.  Firstly, they are subject to a three year employment condition and secondly, 
shares will only be issued in respect of the performance rights where return on equity meets 
the levels described above. 

Performance rights issued under the individual category are linked to the performance of the 
company’s managed funds, as described above. 

 

Staff Bonus Plan 

All permanent staff are eligible to participate in an annual staff bonus.  Under the company’s 
constitution, before the directors recommend or declare a dividend to be paid out of profits of 
any one year, they must pay a bonus to current employees which is set by reference to the 
profit of the company for that year and can be up to thirty percent of the company profit.  All 
staff across the organisation, irrespective of position (and including KMP), receives the same 
set amount (pro-rated for part time staff).   
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Remuneration Details for the Year ended 30 June 201 1  

Parent entity directors’ remuneration 

Post-
employment  

benefits
Long-term 
benefits

Equity-settled 
share-based 

payments

Parent entity director's 
remuneration

Salary, fees 
and leave

Cash 
bonus Other

Super-
annuation

Long 
service 
leave

Termination 
benefits Rights Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

James Thier 2011 122,525    14,440  -           12,221       3,477       -                  11,196           163,859    
2010 122,576    14,150  -           12,874       3,604       -                  9,439              162,643    

Howard Pender 2011 135,444    2,978    -           12,189       11,251     -                  11,960           173,822    
2010 132,334    2,626    -           12,652       3,856       -                  9,469              160,937    

Naomi Edwards 2011 47,410      -             -           4,273         -                -                  -                      51,683      
2010 81,000      -             -           7,290         -                -                  -                      88,290      

Justine Hickey 2011 28,593      -             -           2,578         -                -                  -                      31,171      
2010 31,950      -             -           2,876         -                -                  -                      34,826      

Anne O'Donnell 2011 -                 -             -           -                  -                -                  -                      -                 
2010 95,938      4,000    -           8,718         2,927       235,000    -                      346,583    

André Morony 2011 30,259      -             -           2,729         -                -                  -                      32,988      
2010 25,000      -             -           2,250         -                -                  -                      27,250      

Les Coleman 2011 26,084      -             -           2,352         -                -                  -                      28,436      
2010 26,000      -             -           2,340         -                -                  -                      28,340      

Stephen Newnham 2011 13,234      -             - 1,193         - - -                      14,427      
2010 -                 -             -           -                  -                - -                      -                 

Phillip Vernon 2011 272,330    2,251    - 23,429       5,483       -                  40,316           343,809    
2010 154,135    -             -           12,799       2,981       -                  8,204              178,119    

2011 675,879    19,669  - 60,964       20,211     -                  63,472           840,194    
2010 668,933    20,776  -           61,799       13,368     - 27,112           1,026,988 

Total parent entity director's 
remuneration

Short-term benefits

 

Named executives remuneration (including other key management personnel) 

Post-
employment  

benefits
Long-term 
benefits

Named executives 
(including other KMP) 
remuneration

Salary, fees 
and leave

Cash 
bonus Other

Super-
annuation

Long 
service 
leave

Termination 
benefits Rights Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Philip George 2011 196,182    4,000    -           17,797       5,680 -                  16,006           239,665    
2010 179,638    4,000    -           15,836       (8,483) -                  14,825           205,816    

Ruth Medd 2011 31,101      -             -           2,804         -                -                  -                      33,905      
2010 42,350      -             -           3,690         -                -                  -                      46,040      

Gary Leckie 2011 204,509    4,000    -           18,244       (8,277) -                  16,380           234,856    
2010 179,309    4,000    -           16,206       1,510       -                  14,973           215,998    

Tim Xirakis 2011 181,756    4,000    -           16,191       5,129       -                  15,958           223,034    
2010 184,881    4,000    -           15,779       1,510       -                  14,588           220,758    

Paul Harding Davis 2011 101,316    10,250  -           11,502       (9,812) 57,459       -                      170,715    
2010 196,696    21,500  -           19,491       3,989       -                  15,712           257,388    

Martin Halloran 2011 -                 -             -           -                  -                -                  -                      -                 
2010 245,064    3,366    -           15,017       4,937       -                  48,066           316,450    

James Jordan 2011 256,524    3,259    - 23,285       6,143       -                  15,327           304,538    
2010 150,951    3,200    -           14,013       4,179       - 40,471           212,814    

2011 971,388    25,509  - 89,823       (1,137) 57,459       63,671           1,206,713 

2010 1,178,889 40,066  -           100,032     7,642       -                  148,635         1,475,264 

Named executives 
(including other KMP) 
remuneration

Short-term benefits
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Cash bonus compensation benefits 

Details of cash bonuses paid to key management personal are included in the remuneration 
tables set out above. The annual staff cash bonuses of $4,000 per full time employee were 
paid on 15 September 2010.  The nature of the cash bonuses and the criteria used to 
determine the amount of the payments are detailed in the remuneration policy and in the 
discussion on performance based remuneration and company performance. 

Analysis of bonuses included in remuneration 

The vesting profile of short term-incentive bonuses are detailed below.  No amounts vest in 
future financial years in respect of the short term-incentive bonuses for the 2011 year.  

Cash bonus (1)

Performance 
bonus Share bonus  Vested in year

 Forfeited in 
year (2)

Parent entity directors $ $ $ % %

James Thier 3,503 10,937 - 88 12
Howard Pender 2,978 - - 100 -
Phillip Vernon 2,251 - - 100 -

Named executives (including 
other KMP)

Philip George 4,000 - - 100 -
Gary Leckie 4,000 - - 100 -
Tim Xirakis 4,000 - - 100 -
Paul Harding Davis 4,000 6,250 - 25 75
James Jordan 3,259 - - 100 -

(1)  Details of cash and performance bonus have been provided in the director's report under remuneration policy

(2)  The amounts forfeited are due to the performance or service criteria not being met in relation to the current 

     f inancial year  

As mentioned earlier in this report criteria for cash based bonuses were established for key 
management personnel.  These criteria are assessed against the results for the year and 
relevant cash bonuses paid subsequent to year end.  The maximum and minimum possible 
total value of the cash bonuses for financial years after the financial year to which the report 
relates is set out in the table below: 

Minimum Maximum
Parent Entity Director $ $

Phillip Vernon -               100,000  

Named executives (including other KMP)

Timothy Xirakis -               13,000   
Phillip George -               7,407     
Gary Leckie -               11,334   
James Jordan -               48,069    

Equity based remuneration 
Equity based remuneration consists of grants of options and rights under the company’s 
employee share ownership plan and employee share incentive scheme.  Details of the share 
plans (including the service and performance criteria) are provided in the section on 
remuneration policy above and in Note 25 of the attached financial report. 

Set out in the following table are the holdings of equity instruments granted to the KMP that 
existed during the reporting period and includes details of vesting profiles of options/rights 
granted as compensation.   
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Option holdings: 

KMP option 
holdings

Option 
class

Grant 
date

Fair value at 
grant date

No. 
granted

No. vested & 
excercised

% of grant 
vested No. expired

% of grant 
forfeited

Financial year in 
which grant vests

James Thier AEFAT 24-Sep-07 8.40$           1,517        - 100% ( 1,517) 100% 24-Sep-10
AEFAV 1-Dec-08 3.65$           1,364        - - - 14-Oct-11

2011 Total - - ( 1,517)
2010 Total - - ( 1,432)

Howard Pender AEFAT 24-Sep-07 8.40$           1,513        - 100% ( 1,513) 100% 24-Sep-10
AEFAV 1-Dec-08 3.65$           1,326        - - - 14-Oct-11

2011 Total - - ( 1,513)
2010 Total - - ( 1,469)

Philip George AEFAT 24-Sep-07 8.40$           2,469        - 100% ( 2,469) 100% 24-Sep-10
AEFAU 14-Oct-08 3.65$           2,169        - - - - 14-Oct-11

2011 Total - -                    ( 2,469)
2010 Total - ( 2,356) -

Gary Leckie AEFAT 24-Sep-07 8.40$           1,767        - 100% ( 1,767) 100% 24-Sep-10
AEFAU 14-Oct-08 3.65$           1,919        - - - - 14-Oct-11

2011 Total - - ( 1,767)
2010 Total - - ( 1,443)

Tim Xirakis AEFAT 24-Sep-07 8.40$           1,776        - 100% ( 1,776) 100% 24-Sep-10
AEFAU 14-Oct-08 3.65$           1,895        - - - - 14-Oct-11

2011 Total - - ( 1,776)
2010 Total - - - ( 1,387)

Paul Harding Davis AEFAU 14-Oct-08 3.65$           1,060        - - - - 14-Oct-11
2011 Total - - - - -
2010 Total - - - -

James Jordan AEFAT 24-Sep-07 8.40$           1,146        - 100% ( 1,146) 100% 24-Sep-10
AEFAU 14-Oct-08 3.65$           1,243        - - - - 14-Oct-11

2011 Total - - - ( 1,146)
2010 Total - - - - -  

Rights holdings: 

KMP rights holdings
Rights 
class Grant date

Fair value at 
grant date No.granted

Value of 
rights 

granted ($)

No. vested 
and 

excercised
% of grant 

vested
No. 

lapsed

Value of 
rights 

lapsed ($)
% of grant 

lapsed

James Thier AEFAY 19-Apr-11 16.25$         689 $11,196 - - - - -
2011 Total 689 $11,196 - - - - -
2010 Total 319 $9,439 - - - - -

Howard Pender AEFAY 19-Apr-11 16.25$         736 $11,960 - - - - -
2011 Total 736 $11,960 - - - - -
2010 Total 320 $9,469 - - - - -

Phillip Vernon AEFAY 19-Apr-11 16.25$         2481 $40,316 - - - - -
2011 Total 2481 $40,316 - - - - -
2010 Total 317 $8,204 - - - - -

Philip George AEFAY 19-Apr-11 16.25$         985 $16,006 - - - - -
2011 Total 985 $16,006 - - - - -
2010 Total 501 $14,825 - - - - -

Gary Leckie AEFAY 19-Apr-11 16.25$         1,008 $16,380 - - - - -
2011 Total 1008 $16,380 - - - - -
2010 Total 506 $14,973 - - - - -

Tim Xirakis AEFAY 19-Apr-11 16.25$         982 $15,958 - - - - -
2011 Total 982 $15,958 - - - - -
2010 Total 493 $14,588 - - - - -

James Jordan AEFAY 19-Apr-11 16.25$         868 $14,105 - - - - -
AEFAX 30-Nov-09 32.91$         - (862) 100% - - -
AEFAX 23-Nov-10 26.00$         47 $1,222 (47) 100%

2011 Total 915 $15,327 (909) - - - -
2010 Total 1271 $40,471 - - - - -  

 

Explanation of relative proportions of elements of remuneration that are related to 
performance  
Non-executive directors receive their total remuneration as cash or superannuation 
contributions.  No element is dependent on performance. 



Australian Ethical Investment Limited                                          
A.B.N 47 003 188 930 
and Controlled Entity 

 

Remuneration Report 

18 

 

The remuneration structures and performance conditions for executive directors and other 
key management personnel are outlined earlier in this report. People in these positions were 
entitled to participate in the staff bonus and employee share schemes described above.  
Rights granted during the financial year, when valued at grant date, make up a small 
proportion of the overall remuneration of people holding these positions. 

The following table illustrates the proportion of remuneration that was performance and non-
performance based and the proportion of remuneration received in the form of options/ rights 
during the financial year 

Non-salary 
cash-based 
incentives Shares

Options 
/ rights

Fixed 
salary/ 

fees Total

% % % % %
Parent entity directors' remuneration

James Thier 7 - 7 86 100
Howard Pender - - 7 93 100
Naomi Edwards - - - 100 100
Justine Hickey - - - 100 100
André Morony - - - 100 100
Les Coleman - - - 100 100
Phillip Vernon - - 11 89 100

Named executives (including other KMP)

Philip George - - 7 93 100
Ruth Medd - - - 100 100
Gary Leckie - - 7 93 100
Tim Xirakis - - 7 93 100
Paul Harding Davis 6 - - 94 100
James Jordan - - 5 95 100

Proportion of elements of 
remuneration related to 

performance

Proportion of elements 
of remuneration not 

related to performance

 

This directors’ report, incorporating the remuneration report, is signed in accordance with a 
resolution of the Board of Directors. 

 

 

Phillip Vernon 

Managing Director  

 

Dated: 31 August 2011 
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION UNDER SECTION 30 7C 
OF THE CORPORATIONS ACT 2001 

 
 
 
 
 
 
I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the year ended 30 June 2011 there have been: 
 
 

(i) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations 
Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 
 

             (ii) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 
                           
                                                                                                                                                                             

 
                                                                                                                                                                  

 
 

  THOMAS DAVIS & CO.  
 

 
 
                                                                                                                 
 
  

                                                                                                                       J.G. RYAN      PARTNER          
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Date 31 August 2011     
 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 
 



Australian Ethical Investment Limited A.B.N. 47 003 188 930 and controlled entity

Statement of financial position
as at 30 June 2011

Notes Consolidated entity Parent entity
2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $ $ $
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 7 2,554,689      1,892,734     2,298,126          435,037        
Trade and other receivables 8 3,245,297      3,050,029     2,698,177          2,604,874     
Financial assets 9 496,423         998,441        496,423             998,441        
Current tax assets 13 -                     24,474          -                         213,987        
Other current assets 10 232,306         337,195        189,988             297,283        

Total current assets 6,528,715      6,302,873     5,682,714          4,549,622     

Non-current assets
Property, plant & equipment 11 4,040,747      4,215,168     4,040,747          4,215,168     
Intangible Assets 12 45,355           46,297          45,355               46,297          
Financial assets 9 61,820           100,505        377,820             416,505        
Deferred tax assets 13 607,503         435,083        606,108             433,688        

Total non-current assets 4,755,425      4,797,053     5,070,030          5,111,658     

Total assets 11,284,140    11,099,926   10,752,744        9,661,280     

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 14 2,587,710      2,495,424     2,339,705          2,659,060     
Current tax liabilities 15 443,545         -                    443,545             -                    
Short-term provisions 16 533,024         451,046        533,024             451,046        

Total current liabilities 3,564,279      2,946,470     3,316,274          3,110,106     

Non-current liabilities

20

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 15 34,926           34,805          34,926               34,805          
Other long-term provisions 16 56,123           62,923          56,123               62,923          

Total non-current liabilities 91,049           97,728          91,049               97,728          

Total liabilities 3,655,328      3,044,198     3,407,323          3,207,834     

Net assets 7,628,812      8,055,728     7,345,421          6,453,446     

Equity
Issued capital 17 5,915,219      5,791,147     5,915,219          5,791,147     
Reserves 974,402         869,149        974,402             869,149        
Retained earnings 739,191         1,395,432     455,800             ( 206,850)

Total equity 7,628,812      8,055,728     7,345,421          6,453,446     

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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Statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 30 June 2011

Notes Consolidated entity Parent entity
2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $ $ $

Revenue 3 15,143,951    14,067,899   14,328,858        11,891,805   

Commissions paid to advisers ( 175,660) ( 194,080) ( 15,048) ( 32,394)

External services ( 2,424,539) ( 2,358,711) ( 718,427) ( 898,684)

Employee benefits expense ( 7,471,015) ( 7,339,724) ( 7,453,632) ( 7,316,108)

Depreciation ( 421,258) ( 358,491) ( 421,258) ( 358,491)

Occupancy costs ( 271,218) ( 245,823) ( 262,184) ( 232,939)

Communication costs ( 748,853) ( 774,633) ( 747,597) ( 774,633)

Other expenses ( 1,531,231) ( 1,065,991) ( 1,440,464) ( 994,545)

Profit before community grants and income tax expense 2,100,177      1,730,446     3,270,248          1,284,011     

Community grants expense 1 (l) ( 152,802) ( 124,941) ( 152,802) ( 124,941)

Profit before income tax 1,947,375      1,605,505     3,117,446          1,159,070     

Income tax expense 4 ( 664,842) ( 582,950) ( 516,024) 90,168          

Profit for the year 1,282,533      1,022,555     2,601,422          1,249,238     

Other comprehensive income

21

Other comprehensive income

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of available-for-sale 
investments ( 26,580) 18,645          ( 26,580) 18,645          
Other comprehensive income for the period, net of tax ( 26,580) 18,645          ( 26,580) 18,645          

Total comprehensive income for the period 1,255,953      1,041,200     2,574,842          1,267,883     

Profit attributable to members of the parent entity 1,282,533      1,022,555     2,601,422          1,249,238     

Total comprehensive income attributable to 
members of the parent entity 1,255,953      1,041,200     2,574,842          1,267,883     

Basic earnings per share (cents per share) 6 128.8             103.0

Diluted earnings per share (cents per share) 6 127.9             102.0

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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Consolidated entity

Note
Issued capital 

ordinary

Asset 
revaluation 

reserve

Share-based 
payment 
reserve

Retained 
earnings Total

$ $ $ $ $
Balance at 1 July 2009 5,739,635          ( 59,322) 594,591       2,178,301    8,453,205    
Profit attributable to members of the group -                        -                    -                   1,022,555    1,022,555    
Other comprehensive income for the period -                        18,645          -                   -                   18,645         
Total comprehensive income for the period -                        18,645          -                   1,022,555    1,041,200    

Transactions with owners in their capacity as 
owners:
Shares issued during the period 17 51,512               -                    -                   -                   51,512         
Dividends paid or provided for 5 -                        -                    -                   ( 1,805,424) ( 1,805,424)
Share-based payment expense -                        -                    315,235       -                   315,235       
Balance at 30 June 2010 5,791,147          ( 40,677) 909,826       1,395,432    8,055,728    

Balance at 1 July 2010 5,791,147          ( 40,677) 909,826       1,395,432    8,055,728    
Profit attributable to members of the group -                        -                    -                   1,282,533    1,282,533    
Other comprehensive income for the period -                        ( 26,580) -                   -                   ( 26,580)
Total comprehensive income for the period -                        ( 26,580) -                   1,282,533    1,255,953    

Transactions with owners in their capacity as 
owners:
Shares issued during the period 17 124,072             -                    ( 124,072) -                   -                   
Dividends paid or provided for 5 -                        -                    -                   ( 1,938,772) ( 1,938,772)
Share-based payment expense -                        -                    255,905       -                   255,905       
Balance at 30 June 2011 5,915,219          ( 67,257) 1,041,659    739,191       7,628,812    

Parent entity

Note
Issued capital 

ordinary

Asset 
revaluation 

reserve

Share-based 
payment 
reserve

Retained 
earnings Total

$ $ $ $ $

Statement of changes in equity
for year ended 30 June 2011
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$ $ $ $ $

Balance at 1 July 2009 5,739,635          ( 59,322) 594,591       349,336       6,624,240    
Profit attributable to members of the parent entity -                        -                    -                   1,249,238    1,249,238    
Other comprehensive income for the period -                        18,645          -                   -                   18,645         
Total comprehensive income for the period -                        18,645          -                   1,249,238    1,267,883    

Transactions with owners in their capacity as 
owners:

Shares issued during the period 17 51,512               -                    -                   -                   51,512         
Dividends paid or provided for 5 -                        -                    -                   ( 1,805,424) ( 1,805,424)
Share-based payment expense -                        -                    315,235       -                   315,235       
Balance at 30 June 2010 5,791,147          ( 40,677) 909,826       ( 206,850) 6,453,446    

Balance at 1 July 2010 5,791,147          ( 40,677) 909,826       ( 206,850) 6,453,446    
Profit attributable to members of the parent entity -                        -                    -                   2,601,422    2,601,422    
Other comprehensive income for the period -                        ( 26,580) -                   -                   ( 26,580)
Total comprehensive income for the period -                        ( 26,580) -                   2,601,422    2,574,843    

Transactions with owners in their capacity as 
owners:

Shares issued during the period 17 124,072             -                    ( 124,072) -                   -                   
Dividends paid or provided for 5 -                        -                    -                   ( 1,938,772) ( 1,938,772)
Share-based payment expense -                        -                    255,905       -                   255,905       
Balance at 30 June 2011 5,915,219          ( 67,257) 1,041,659    455,800       7,345,421    

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Australian Ethical Investment Limited A.B.N. 47 003 188 930 and controlled entity

Notes
2011 2010 2011 2010

                  $                   $                   $                   $
Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from operations 21,360,606    14,111,414   18,497,823        9,906,897     
Payment to suppliers & employees ( 18,429,046) ( 12,274,001) ( 16,282,198) ( 10,558,223)
Dividends received -                     -                    1,665,953          1,797,057     
Interest/distributions received 95,885           130,785        76,271               101,847        
Income tax paid ( 357,731) ( 812,425) ( 87,001) ( 161,346)
Bonus ( 184,026) ( 170,904) ( 184,026) ( 170,904)
Community grants  ( 125,396) ( 135,644) ( 125,396) ( 135,644)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating 
activities 22 (b) 2,360,292      849,225        3,561,426          779,684        

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of investments 656,109         1,847,723     656,109             1,847,723     
Purchase of property, plant & equipment ( 273,142) ( 500,035) ( 273,142) ( 500,035)
Purchase of investments ( 191,352) ( 1,133,628) ( 191,352) ( 1,133,628)
Loans to Staff -                     ( 49,889) -                         ( 49,889)
Repayment of loans 48,820           18,783          48,820               18,783          

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 240,435         182,954        240,435             182,954        

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from share issue -                     51,512          -                         51,512          
Share buy-back payment -                     -                    -                         -                    
Dividends paid ( 1,938,772) ( 1,805,424) ( 1,938,772) ( 1,805,424)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities ( 1,938,772) ( 1,753,912) ( 1,938,772) ( 1,753,912)

Statement of cash flows
for the year ended 30 June 2011

Consolidated entity Parent entity
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Net increase (decrease) in cash held 661,955         ( 721,733) 1,863,089          ( 791,274)

Cash at beginning of financial year 1,892,734      2,614,467     435,037             1,226,311     

Cash at end of financial year 22 (a) 2,554,689      1,892,734     2,298,126          435,037        

The accompanying notes form part of these Financial Statements
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Note 1 - Statement of significant accounting polici es 
 
Basis of preparation 
 
The financial statements are general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, Australian Accounting Interpretations, 
other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the 
Corporations Act 2001. 
 
Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the AASB has concluded 
would result in a financial report containing relevant and reliable information about 
transactions, events and conditions. Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards 
ensures that the financial statements and notes also comply with International Financial 
Reporting Standards.  
 
The financial statements have been prepared on an accruals basis and are based on 
historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non-
current assets, financial assets and financial liabilities. 
 
The financial report covers the consolidated entity of Australian Ethical Investment Limited 
and its wholly owned entity Australian Ethical Superannuation Pty Ltd and Australian Ethical 
Investment Limited as an individual parent entity.  Australian Ethical Investment Limited is a 
listed public company and both the parent and wholly owned entity are incorporated and 
domiciled in Australia. 
 
The following is a summary of the material accounting policies adopted by the consolidated 
entity in the preparation of the financial statements.  The accounting policies have been 
consistently applied, unless otherwise stated. 
 
 
Accounting policies 
 
a) Principles of consolidation 
 
A controlled entity is any entity Australian Ethical Investment Limited has the power to control 
the financial and operating policies of so as to obtain benefits from its activities. 
 
All controlled entities have a June financial year-end. 
 
All inter-company balances and transactions between entities in the consolidated entity, 
including any unrealised profits or losses, have been eliminated on consolidation. Accounting 
policies of controlled entities have been changed where necessary to ensure consistencies 
with those policies applied by the parent entity. 
 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Australian Ethical 
Investment Limited and its wholly owned entity Australian Ethical Superannuation Pty Limited. 
 
b) Income tax 
 
The charge for current income tax expenses is based on the profit for the year adjusted for 
any non-assessable or disallowed items. It is calculated using tax rates that have been 
enacted or are substantively enacted by the reporting date. 
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Note 1 - Statement of significant accounting polici es - continued 
 
b) Income tax - continued 
 
Deferred tax is accounted for using the statement of financial position liability method in 
respect of temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and 
their carrying amounts in the financial statements. No deferred income tax will be recognised 
from the initial recognition of an asset or liability, excluding a business combination, where 
there is no effect on accounting or taxable profit or loss. 
 
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the 
asset is realised or liability is settled. Deferred tax is credited in the statement of 
comprehensive income except where it relates to items that may be credited directly to equity, 
in which case the deferred tax is adjusted directly against equity. 
 
Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future tax 
profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. 
 
The amount of benefits brought to account or which may be realised in the future is based on 
the assumption that no adverse change will occur in income taxation legislation and the 
anticipation that the consolidated entity will derive sufficient future assessable income to 
enable the benefit to be realised and comply with the conditions of deductibility imposed by 
the law. 
 
Australian Ethical Investment Limited and its wholly owned entity Australian Ethical 
Superannuation Pty Ltd have formed an income tax consolidated group under the Tax 
Consolidation System. Australian Ethical Investment Limited is responsible for recognising the 
current and deferred tax assets and liabilities for the tax consolidated group.  The group 
notified the Australian Tax Office (ATO) on 24 March 2004 that it had formed an income tax 
consolidated group to apply from 1 July 2002.  The tax consolidated group has entered a tax 
sharing agreement whereby each company in the group contributes to the income tax 
payable in proportion to their contribution to the net profit before tax of the tax consolidated 
group.  Under the tax sharing agreement Australian Ethical Superannuation Pty Ltd agrees to 
pay its share of the income tax payable to Australian Ethical Investment Limited on the same 
day that Australian Ethical Investment Limited pays the ATO for group tax liabilities. 
 
c) Property, plant and equipment 
 
Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value less, where 
applicable, any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 
 
Property 
 
Leasehold land and buildings are shown at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment losses. 
 
Any accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated against the gross 
carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to the re-valued amount of the 
asset. 
 
Plant and equipment 
 
Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis less depreciation and impairment 
losses. 
 
The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually by directors to ensure it is 
not in excess of the recoverable amount from these assets. The recoverable amount is 
assessed on the basis of the expected net cash flows that will be received from the assets  
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Note 1 - Statement of significant accounting polici es - continued 
 
c) Property, plant and equipment - continued 
 
employment and subsequent disposal. The expected net cash flows have been discounted to 
their present values in determining recoverable amounts. 
 
Depreciation 
 
The depreciable amount of all fixed assets including buildings, is depreciated over their 
estimated useful lives to the consolidated entity commencing from the time the asset is held 
ready for use. 
 
The depreciation rates used for each class of assets are: 
 

Class of fixed asset  Depreciation 
rates 

Depreciation basis  

   
Buildings 2.5%-20% Straight line 
Furniture, fittings and equipment 10% to 37.5% Straight line/diminishing value 
Software 18.75% to 40% Straight line/diminishing value 
 
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each 
reporting date. 
 
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the 
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 
 
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying 
amount. These gains and losses are included in the statement of comprehensive income. 
When re-valued assets are sold, amounts included in the revaluation reserve relating to that 
asset are transferred to retained earnings. 
 
d) Intangible assets 
 
The development of the company’s website was capitalised as an intangible asset and carried 
at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.  Amortisation is 
recognised on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful live at two and half years.  The 
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each annual 
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimates being accounted for on a 
prospective basis.  
 
e) Financial instruments 
 
Recognition 
 
Financial instruments are initially measured at cost on trade date, which includes transaction 
costs, when the related contractual rights or obligations exist. Subsequent to initial recognition 
these instruments are measured as set out below. 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets 
 
The consolidated entity holds only available for sale financial assets. Available for sale 
financial assets are assets not classified as financial assets at fair value through profit and 
loss, loans and receivables, or held-to-maturity investments. Available-for-sale financial 
assets are reflected at fair value. Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in fair 
value are taken directly to equity. 
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Note 1 - Statement of significant accounting polici es – continued 
 
e) Financial instruments– continued 
 
Fair value 
 
Fair value is determined based on current bid prices for all quoted investments. Valuation 
techniques are applied to determine the fair value for all unlisted securities, including recent 
arm’s length transactions, reference to similar instruments and option pricing models. 
 
Impairment 
 
At each reporting date, the group assesses whether there is objective evidence that a 
financial instrument has been impaired. In the case of available-for sale financial instruments, 
a prolonged decline in the value of the instrument is considered to determine whether an 
impairment has arisen. Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income. 
 
f) Impairment of assets 
 
At each reporting date, the group reviews the carrying values of its tangible and intangible 
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have been impaired. If 
such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s 
fair value less costs to sell and value in use, is compared to the asset’s carrying value. Any 
excess of the asset’s carrying value over it recoverable amount is expensed to the statement 
of comprehensive income. 
 
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the group 
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
 
g) Employee benefits 
 
Provision is made for the company’s liability for employee benefits arising from services 
rendered by employees to reporting date. Employee benefits that are expected to be settled 
within one year have been measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is 
settled, plus related on-costs. Employee benefits payable later than one year have been 
measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made for those 
benefits. 
 
Share options and rights 
 
Share based compensation benefits are provided to employees via the Australian Ethical 
Investment Limited employee share ownership plan.  Share options and rights have been 
granted annually to employees and details are disclosed in the annual financial report. 
 
Share options granted before 7 November 2002 and/or vested before 1 January 2005 
No expense is recognised in respect of these options.  The shares are recognised when the 
options are exercised and the proceeds received allocated to share capital. 
 
Share options granted on or after 7 November 2002 and vested after 1 January 2005 
The fair value of options granted under the Australian Ethical Investment Limited employee 
share ownership plan is recognised as an employee benefit expense with a corresponding 
increase in equity.  The fair value is measured at grant date and recognised over the vesting 
period. 
 
At each reporting date, the entity revises its estimate of the number of options and rights that 
are expected to become exercisable.  The employee benefit expense recognised each period 
takes into account the most recent estimate. 
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Note 1 - Statement of significant accounting polici es – continued 
 
g) Employee benefits - continued 
 
Upon the exercise of options and rights the proceeds received, net of any directly attributable 
transaction costs, are credited to share capital. 
 
Employee bonus 
 
The group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses and profit-sharing based on a 
formula that takes into consideration the profit attributable to the company's shareholders 
after certain adjustments.  The group recognises a provision where contractually obliged or 
where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation. 
 
h) Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognised when the group has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of 
past events, for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that 
outflow can be reliably measured. 
 
i) Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and deposits held at call with banks. 
 
j) Revenue 
 
Revenue from the rendering of a service is recognised upon the delivery of the service to the 
customers. 
 
Interest revenue is recognised on a proportional basis taking into account the interest rates 
applicable to the financial assets. 
 
All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST). 
 
k) Goods and services tax (GST) 
 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the 
amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office. In these 
circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part  
of an item of the expense. Receivables and payables in the statement of financial position are 
shown inclusive of GST. 
 
Cash flows are presented in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis, except for the GST 
component of investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows. 
 
l) Community grants expense 
 
The Company’s Constitution states that "the directors before recommending or declaring any 
dividend to be paid out of the profits of any one year must have first:- 
 

(i) paid or provisioned for payment to current employees, or other persons 
performing work for the company, a work related bonus or incentive payment, set 
at the discretion of the directors, but to be no more than 30 percent (30%) of what 
the profit for that year would have been had not the bonus or incentive payment 
been deducted" 
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Note 1 - Statement of significant accounting polici es - continued 
 
l) Community grants expense - continued 
 

(ii) "gifted or provisioned for gifting an amount equivalent to ten percent (10%) of 
what the profit for that year would have been had not the above mentioned bonus 
and amount gifted been deducted". 

 
m) Earnings per share 
 
Basic earnings per share 
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of 
the company, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 
financial year. 
 
Diluted earnings per share 
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per 
share to take into account the after income tax effect of the interest and other financing costs 
associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the weighted average number of shares 
assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary 
shares. 
 
n) Comparative figures 
 
Where required comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in 
presentation for the current financial year. 
 
Critical accounting estimates and judgements 
 
The directors evaluate estimates and judgments incorporated into the financial report based 
on historical knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a 
reasonable expectation of future events and are based on current trends and economic data, 
obtained both externally and within the group. 
 
Key estimates – annual leave and long service leave provision 
In estimating the annual leave and long service leave provision, an average salary increase of 
four percent has been incorporated. 
 
Key judgements 
Australian Ethical Investment Limited has a loan receivable from the Centre for Australian 
Ethical Research recorded as an asset on its statement of financial position for $69,091, and 
a staff loan for $12,250. The directors have determined that no provision for impairment is 
required for these loans. 
 
Accounting Standards not previously applied    
 

The AASB has issued new, revised and amended accounting standards and interpretations 
that have mandatory application dates for future reporting periods. The group has decided 
against early adoption of these standards. A discussion of those future requirements and their 
impact on the group follows: 

 
• AASB 9: Financial Instruments and AASB 2009-11: Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 9 [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 121, 127, 128, 
131, 132, 136, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Interpretations 10 & 12] (applicable for annual reporting 
periods commencing on or after 1 January 2013).   These standards are applicable 
retrospectively and amend the classification and measurement of financial assets. The group 
has not yet determined the potential impact on the financial statements. 
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• AASB 124: Related Party Disclosures (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing 
on or after 1 January 2011).  This standard removes the requirement for government related 
entities to disclose details of all transactions with the government and other government related 
entities and clarifies the definition of a related party to remove inconsistencies and simplify the 
structure of the standard. No changes are expected to materially affect the group. 

 • AASB 1053: Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards and AASB2010-2: 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 8, 101, 102, 107, 108, 110, 111, 112, 116, 117, 119, 121, 
123, 124, 127, 128, 131, 133, 134, 136, 137, 138, 140, 141, 1050 & 1052 and Interpretations 2, 
4, 5, 15, 17, 127, 129 & 1052] (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 
1 July 2013). 
AASB 1053 establishes a revised differential financial reporting framework consisting of two 
tiers of financial reporting requirements for those entities preparing general purpose financial 
statements: 

 − Tier 1: Australian Accounting Standards; and 

 − Tier 2: Australian Accounting Standards - Reduced Disclosure Requirements. 

 Tier 2 of the framework comprises the recognition, measurement and presentation 
requirements of Tier 1, but contains significantly fewer disclosure requirements. 

 The following entities are required to apply Tier 1 reporting requirements (i.e. full IFRS): 

 − for-profit private sector entities that have public accountability; and 

 − the Australian Government and state, territory and local governments. 

 Since the group is a for-profit private sector entity that has public accountability, it does not 
qualify for the reduced disclosure requirements for Tier 2 entities. 

• AASB 2009-12: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASBs 5, 8, 108, 110, 
112, 119, 133, 137, 139, 1023 & 1031 and Interpretations 2, 4, 16, 1039 & 1052] (applicable for 
annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2011).  This standard makes a 
number of editorial amendments to a range of Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations, including amendments to reflect changes made to the text of International 
Financial reporting Standards by the IASB. The standard also amends AASB 8 to require 
entities to exercise judgement in assessing whether a government and entities known to be 
under the control of that government are considered a single customer for the purposes of 
certain operating segment disclosures. These amendments are not expected to impact the 
group. 



Australian Ethical Investment Limited A.B.N. 47 003 188 930 and controlled entity 
 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ende d 30 June 2011 

 31 

 

• AASB 2010-4: Further amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the 
Annual Improvements Project [AASB 1, AASB 7, AASB 101 & AASB 134 and Interpretation 13] 
(applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2011). 

This Standard details numerous non-urgent but necessary changes to Accounting Standards 
arising from the IASB's annual improvements project. Key changes include: 

 − clarifying the application of AASB 108 prior to an entity's first Australian-Accounting-
Standards financial statements; 

 − adding an explicit statement to AASB 7 that qualitative disclosures should be made in the 
context of the quantitative disclosures to better enable users to evaluate an entity's exposure to 
risks arising from financial instruments; 
 − amending AASB 101 to the effect that disaggregation of changes in each component of 
equity arising from transactions recognised in other comprehensive income is required to be 
presented, but is permitted to be presented in the statement of changes in equity or in the 
notes; 

 − adding a number of examples to the list of events or transactions that require disclosure 
under AASB 134; and 

 − making sundry editorial amendments to various Standards and Interpretations. 

This Standard is not expected to impact the group. 
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Consolidated entity Parent entity
2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $                       $ $ $
Note 2 - Auditors' remuneration

Remuneration of the auditors for:

Audit services
 - Auditing the financial report 39,188           38,279          34,538               33,629          
 - Auditing the sustainability report 5,900             5,750            5,900                 5,750            

Non-audit services

 - Tax and other accounting advice 3,462             3,371            3,462                 3,371            

Note 3 - Revenue

Operating activities
 - Management fees net of rebates 11,235,864    10,801,006   4,602,218          4,701,333     
 - Entry fees 1,107,289      1,349,887     80,839               157,969        
 - Member & Withdrawal Fees 697,654         536,221        -                         -                    
 - Other fees 1,219,025      1,162,694     998,442             1,162,694     
 - Dividend from wholly owned subsidiary -                     -                    1,665,953          1,797,057     
 - Interest/distributions 98,246           123,949        78,632               95,011          
 - Wholly owned entity fee -                     -                    6,167,594          3,892,705     
 - Other revenue 785,873         94,142          735,180             85,037          

15,143,951    14,067,899   14,328,858        11,891,805   

Total revenue 15,143,951    14,067,899   14,328,858        11,891,805   Total revenue 15,143,951    14,067,899   14,328,858        11,891,805   
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Consolidated entity Parent entity
2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $                       $ $ $
Note 4 - Income tax expense

a) The components of tax expense comprise:
 - Current tax 828,581 560,819 679,763 (109,344)
 - Deferred tax (163,739) 22,131 (163,739) 19,176

664,841 582,950 516,024 (90,168)

b) The prima facie tax payable on profit from 
    ordinary activities before income tax is reconc iled
    to the income tax expense as follows:

Prima facie tax payable on profit from ordinary 
activities before income tax at 30% (2010:30%)
- Consolidated entity 584,212         481,651        -                         -                    
- Parent entity -                     -                    935,233             347,721        
- Other members of the income tax consolidated
  group net of intercompany transactions -                     -                    148,818             673,118        

Add: tax effect of:
 - Other non-allowable items 2,130             1,891            2,076                 1,820            
 - Share options expensed during year 76,772           94,570          76,772               94,570          
 - Under provision for income tax in prior year 2,483             5,582            2,483                 5,582            

665,597         583,694        1,165,382          1,122,811     

Less: tax effect of: 
 - Rebateable fully franked dividends -                     -                    ( 499,785 ) ( 539,117)
 - Franking and foreign tax credits ( 755 ) ( 744 ) ( 755 ) ( 744)
 - Tax allowance on capital investment -                     -                    -                         -                    

2

Income tax expense attributable to entity 664,842         582,950        664,842             582,950        

Allocation of income tax expense to wholly owned
entity under the tax sharing agreement -                     -                    ( 148,818) ( 673,118)

Income tax expense attributable to entity 664,842         582,950        516,024             ( 90,168)

The applicable weighted average effective tax 
rates are as follows: 34% 36% 17% -8%
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Consolidated entity Parent entity
2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $                       $ $ $
Note 5 - Dividends

(a) Distributions paid

Final fully franked dividend of 50 (2010: 132 ) 
cents per share franked at the tax rate of 30% 
(2010:30%) 496,570         1,308,854     496,570             1,308,854     

Special fully franked dividend of 100 (2010: 0) 
cents per share franked at the tax rate of 30% 
(2010:30%) 993,141         -                    993,141             -                    

Interim fully franked dividend of 45 (2010: 50) 
cents per share franked at the tax rate of 30% 
(2010:30%) 449,061         496,570        449,061             496,570        

1,938,772      1,805,424     1,938,772          1,805,424     
(b) Distributions declared

Final fully franked dividend of 100 (2010: 50) cents 
per share franked at the tax rate of 30% (2010: 
30%) 997,913         496,570        997,913             496,570        

Special fully franked dividend of 25 (2010: 100) 
cents per share franked at the tax rate of 30% 
(2010:30%) 249,478         993,141        249,478             993,141        

(c) Franking account

Balance of franking account at year end adjusted 
for franking credits which will arise from income for franking credits which will arise from income 
tax payments in the following year. 1,380,710          1,418,530     

Subsequent to year-end, the franking account 
would be reduced by the declared dividend 
reflected above as follows: 534,596             638,448        

846,114             780,082        
Note 6 - Earnings per share

(a) Earnings used to calculate basic EPS and 
dilutive EPS 1,282,533      1,022,555     

(b) Weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the year used in calculation of 
basic EPS 996,004         992,385        
Weighted average number of rights outstanding 6,886             9,516            
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the year used in calculation of 
dilutive EPS 1,002,890      1,001,901     

Note 7 - Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand 300                300                300                    300                
Cash at bank 171,559         1,020,195     10,000               6,842            
Deposits at call 2,382,830      872,239        2,287,826          427,895        

2,554,689      1,892,734     2,298,126          435,037        

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.

Deposits at call is money invested in high interest bank account.  Interest is calculated daily based on
daily bank deposit rates.
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Consolidated entity Parent entity
2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $                       $ $ $
Note 8 - Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables 3,238,499      3,039,901     2,623,778          2,516,422     
Other 6,798             10,128          6,798                 10,128          
Amounts receivable - wholly owned entity -                     -                    67,601               78,324          

3,245,297      3,050,029     2,698,177          2,604,874     

Note 9 - Financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets 476,902         973,096        792,902             1,289,096     
Loans 81,341           125,850        81,341               125,850        

558,243         1,098,946     874,243             1,414,946     
Less non-current portion 61,820           100,505        377,820             416,505        
Current portion 496,423         998,441        496,423             998,441        

a. Available-for-sale financial assets comprise:
 - Money market deposit at cost -                     500,000        -                         500,000        
 - Mortgage backed security at fair value -                     144,616        -                         144,616        
 - Listed securities at fair value 137,036         2,558            137,036             2,558            
 - Units in unit trust at fair value 339,866         325,922        339,866             325,922        
 - Shares in wholly owned entity at cost -                     -                    316,000             316,000        

476,902         973,096        792,902             1,289,096     
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b. Loans comprise
 - Loan to other entity 69,091           82,492          69,091               82,492          
 - Loan to staff 12,250           43,358          12,250               43,358          

81,341           125,850        81,341               125,850        

The first loan is provided to an independent entity with a fixed interest rate of 9.0% and matures 1 August 2015.. 
Loan to staff is provided to one staff member with the FBT interest rate set by the ATO.

Note 10 - Other current assets
Other 11,857           11,914          11,858               11,914          
Prepayments 220,449         325,281        178,130             285,369        

232,306         337,195        189,988             297,283        
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ende d 30 June 2011

Consolidated entity Parent entity
2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $                       $ $ $
Note 11 - Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings

Leasehold land
At cost 230,000         230,000        230,000             230,000        
Total land 230,000         230,000        230,000             230,000        

Buildings
At cost 2,784,117      2,784,117     2,784,117          2,784,117     
Accumulated depreciation ( 368,642 ) ( 297,085 ) ( 368,642) ( 297,085)
Total buildings 2,415,475      2,487,032     2,415,475          2,487,032     

Total land and buildings 2,645,475      2,717,032     2,645,475          2,717,032     

Plant and equipment
At cost 2,809,022      2,680,113     2,809,022          2,680,113     
Accumulated depreciation ( 1,413,750) ( 1,181,977) ( 1,413,750) ( 1,181,977)
Total plant and equipment 1,395,272      1,498,136     1,395,272          1,498,136     

Total property, plant and equipment 4,040,747      4,215,168     4,040,747          4,215,168     

Movements in carrying amounts

Land
Balance at the beginning of year 230,000         230,000        230,000             230,000        
Additions -                     -                    -                         -                    
Disposals -                     -                    -                         -                    
Carrying amount at the end of year 230,000         230,000        230,000             230,000        
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Buildings
Balance at the beginning of year 2,487,032      2,558,589     2,487,032          2,558,589     
Additions -                     -                    -                         -                    
Disposals -                     -                    -                         -                    
Depreciation expense ( 71,557) ( 71,557) ( 71,557) ( 71,557)
Carrying amount at the end of year 2,415,475      2,487,032     2,415,475          2,487,032     

Plant and equipment
Balance at the beginning of year 1,498,136      1,350,992     1,498,136          1,350,992     
Additions 256,948         430,862        256,948             430,862        
Disposals ( 36,793) ( 10,286) ( 36,793) ( 10,286)
Depreciation expense ( 323,019) ( 273,431) ( 323,019) ( 273,431)
Carrying amount at the end of year 1,395,272      1,498,136     1,395,272          1,498,136     

Total 4,040,747      4,215,168     4,040,747          4,215,168     

An independent valuer was contracted to value the land and buildings at 30 June 2009.  Independent valuation 
will be conducted on a three year cycle in order to comply with accounting standard requirements on impairment.  
Based on the valuation conducted in 2009 and assessment of the market since that date, the cost value of land 
and building disclosed above is below the commercial valuation and therefore no impairment has occurred.
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Consolidated entity Parent entity
2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $                       $ $ $
Note 12 - Intangible Assets
Website development costs
At cost 85,540           59,800          85,540               59,800          
Accumulated amortisation ( 40,185 ) ( 13,503) ( 40,185) ( 13,503)
Total intangibles 45,355           46,297          45,355               46,297          

Website development costs
Balance at the beginning of year 46,297           - 46,297               -
Additions 25,740           59,800          25,740               59,800          
Disposals -                     -                    -                         -                    
Amortisation expense ( 26,682) ( 13,503) ( 26,682) ( 13,503)
Carrying amount at the end of year 45,355           46,297          45,355               46,297          

Note 13 - Tax assets
Current Tax assets
Tax refund receivable due to income tax overpayment -                     24,474 -                         213,987

-                     24,474          -                         213,987        
Deferred Tax assets
The balance comprises temporary differences 
attributable to:
Amounts recognised in profit or loss
Employee benefits 517,881         362,580        517,881             362,580        
Community grants 46,578           40,850          46,578               40,850          
Audit fees 14,220           14,220          12,825               12,825          

578,679         417,650        577,284             416,255        

Amounts recognised directly in equity
Financial asset revaluations 28,824           17,433          28,824               17,433          

607,503         435,083        606,108             433,688        
Movements
Opening balance at 1 July 435,083         464,200        433,688             459,850        Opening balance at 1 July 435,083         464,200        433,688             459,850        
Credited (charged) to the statement of 
comprehensive income 161,029         ( 21,126) 161,029             ( 18,171)
Credited (charged) to equity 11,391           ( 7,991) 11,391               ( 7,991)
Closing balance at 30 June 607,503         435,083        606,108             433,688        

Note 14 - Trade and other payables
Trade payables 411,535         436,714        394,251             313,031        
Sundry payables and accrued expenses 1,971,145      1,864,510     1,740,426          1,655,441     
Employee bonus 205,029         194,200        205,029             194,200        
Amounts payable to wholly owned entity -                     -                    -                         496,388        

2,587,710      2,495,424     2,339,705          2,659,060     

Note 15 - Tax liabilities
Current tax liabilities
Income tax payable 443,545         -                    443,545             -                    

443,545         -                    443,545             -                    
Deferred tax liabilities
The balance comprises temporary differences 
attributable to:
Amounts recognised in profit or loss:
Stamp duty on leasehold property: 30,896           30,896          30,896               30,896          
Tax deferred income 4,030             3,909            4,030                 3,909            

34,926           34,805          34,926               34,805          
Movements
Opening balance at 1 July 34,805           33,732          34,805               33,732          
Credited/(charged) to the income statement 121                1,073            121                    1,073            
Credited/(charged) to equity -                     -                    -                         -                    
Closing balance at 30 June 34,926           34,805          34,926               34,805          

37



Australian Ethical Investment Limited A.B.N. 47 003 188 930 and controlled entity

Notes to the financial statements for the year ende d 30 June 2011

Consolidated entity Parent entity
2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $                       $ $ $

Note 16 - Provisions
Current 
Employee benefits - long service leave 533,024         451,046        533,024             451,046        

533,024         451,046        533,024             451,046        

Non-Current
Employee benefits - long service leave 56,123           62,923          56,123               62,923          

56,123           62,923          56,123               62,923          

Note 17 - Issued capital

Ordinary shares 

Fully paid ordinary shares at the beginning of the
financial year 993,141 (2010 - 991,556) shares 5,791,147      5,739,635     5,791,147          5,739,635     

Issue of share capital

Shares issued during the year under the employee 
share ownership plan:

1,585 on 22 December 2009 (options exercised) - 51,512          - 51,512          

4,772 on 23 November 2010 (rights exercised) 124,072         -                    124,072             -                    

Balance 30 June

997,913 (2010 - 993,141) shares 5,915,219      5,791,147     5,915,219          5,791,147     

At 30 June 2011 there were 997,913 fully paid ordinary shares which have no par value.

Options/rights
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Options/rights

(i) For detailed information relating to the Australian Ethical Investment Limited employee share ownership plan, 
including details of options/rights issued, exercised and lapsed during the financial year and the options/rights outstanding 
at year-end, refer to note 25 share-based payments.

(ii) For information related to share options  and rights issued to key management personnel during the financial year
refer to the remuneration report contained within the Directors' report.

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the parent entity in proportion to the
number of shares held.  At the shareholders meeting each ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a poll
is called, othewise each shareholder has one vote on a show of hands.

Capital management

The company’s capital structure and policies remain relatively simple. The company currently has no debt and 
capital not required for working purposes is held as an investment in Trevor Pearcey House and in an investment 
portfolio comprising Australian Ethical trusts and listed securities.  Detail provided in Note 9 and 11.

Management effectively manages the group's capital by assessing the group's financial risks and adjusting its capital 
structure in response to changes in these risks and in the market. These responses include the management of 
distributions to shareholders and share issues. 

Maintenance of a certain level of capital is a condition of the company’s Australian Financial Services Licence.  
The company currently meets the $5.0M capital requirement above which no extra capital is required as a result of
increased funds under management.
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Consolidated entity Parent entity
2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $                       $ $ $

Note 18 – Events after the reporting date
Since the end of the financial year, no material events that may have an impact on these financial statements
have occurred. 

The financial report was authorised for issue on the directors' declaration date by the board of directors.

Note 19 - Economic dependence
The consolidated entity is dependent upon management fees received in its capacity as responsible entity of the 
Australian Ethical Trusts and as trustee of the Australian Ethical Retail Superannuation Fund.

Note 20 - Contingencies

Liabilties and assets of trusts and superannuation fund  

Current liabilities
Payables 3,249,481 29,220,186 1,957,613 28,346,164
Provisions 18,472,200 11,719,003 17,710,906 10,539,437
Total liabilities 21,721,681 40,939,189 19,668,519 38,885,601

Rights of indemnities for liabilities incurred by the 
consolidated entity and parent entity not recorded 
in the financial statements were:        21,721,681 40,939,189 19,668,519 38,885,601

The trusts and superannuation fund hold sufficient assets to meet these liabilities as and when they fall due.

Liabilities of the trusts and superannuation fund for which the consolidated entity and parent entity are 
responsible entity and trustee but not shown in the financial statements of the consolidated entity or parent entity 
were:
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The trusts and superannuation fund hold sufficient assets to meet these liabilities as and when they fall due.

The assets of the trusts and superannuation fund are not available to meet any liabilities of the consolidated entity or parent 
entity acting in their own right.

3
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Note 21 - Operating segments

Reportable segments disclosed are:
1) public offer managed funds (managed funds); and
2) public offer retail superannuation fund (super)

(i) Segment performance

Managed funds Super Total Managed funds Super Total
$ $ $ $ $ $

Revenue 

External sale 6,416,679            8,629,026           15,045,705        6,107,033           7,836,917      13,943,950    
Inter-segment sale 6,167,594            -                     6,167,594          3,892,705           -                 3,892,705      
Interest revenue 78,632                 19,614                98,246               95,011                28,938           123,949         

Total segment revenue 12,662,905          8,648,640           21,311,545        10,094,749         7,865,855      17,960,604    

Inter-segment eliminations (6,167,594) (3,892,705)

Total group revenue 15,143,951        14,067,899    

Segment net profit before tax 2,622,030            795,165              3,417,195          588,405              2,243,491      2,831,896      

Reconciliation of segment result to 
group net profit/loss after tax

Income tax expense (516,024) (148,818) (664,842) 90,168 (673,118) (582,950)

Unallocated items
   - Depreciation and amortisation (421,258) (358,491)
   - Other corporate overheads * (1,048,562) (867,900)

The group has identified its operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by the board of directors (chief operating 
decision makers) in assessing performance and determining the allocation of resources.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the half-year ended 30 June 2011

30 June 201030 June 2011
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   - Other corporate overheads * (1,048,562) (867,900)

Group net profit after tax 1,282,533          1,022,555      

(ii) Segment assets

Managed funds Super Total Managed funds Super Total
$ $ $ $ $ $

Assets 10,752,744 914,998 11,667,742 9,661,280 2,518,170 12,179,450

Inter-segment eliminations (383,602) (1,080,224)

Total group assets 11,284,140        11,099,226    

(iii) Segment liabilities

Liabilities 3,407,323 315,606 3,722,929 3,207,834 600,589 3,808,423

Inter-segment eliminations (67,601) (764,225)

Total group liabilities 3,655,328 3,044,198

30 June 2010

* Other corporate overheads includes staff bonus, tithe expense, staff options/rights expense and the payment to the former Chief Executive Officer.   

30 June 2011
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Consolidated entity Parent entity
2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $                       $ $ $
Note 22 - Cash flow information

(a) Reconciliation of cash

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in 
the  cash flow statement is reconciled to the 
related items in the balance sheet as follows:

Cash on hand 300                300                300                    300                
Cash at bank 171,559         1,020,195     10,000               6,842            
Deposits at call 2,382,830      872,239        2,287,826          427,895        

2,554,689      1,892,734     2,298,126          435,037        

(b) Reconciliation of cash flow from operations 
with net profit from ordinary activities after income 
tax expense

Net profit from ordinary activities after income tax 
expense 1,282,533      1,022,555     2,601,422          1,249,238     

Non-cash flows in operating profit

Depreciation 421,258         358,491        421,258             358,491        
Provisions 75,178           ( 70,439) 75,178               ( 70,439)
(Profit) loss on sale of property, plant & equipment 27,246           19,659          27,246               19,659          (Profit) loss on sale of property, plant & equipment 27,246           19,659          27,246               19,659          
(Profit) loss on sale of investment ( 6,449) -                    ( 6,449) -                    
Share options/rights expensed 255,905         315,235        255,905             315,235        

Changes in assets and liabilities

(Increase) decrease in trade & other receivables ( 199,654) ( 1,248,023) (30,088) ( 1,485,227)
(Increase) decrease in current tax assets -                     ( 24,474) -                         ( 213,987)
(Increase) decrease in prepayments & other assets 104,888         ( 57,829) 107,296 ( 62,022)
(Increase) decrease in deferred  tax assets ( 136,555) 21,126          52,958 18,171          
Increase (decrease) in trade & other payables 92,276           739,051        (319,365) 706,262        
Increase (decrease) in current tax liability 443,545         ( 227,201) 375,944 ( 56,771)
Increase (decrease) in deferred tax liability 121                1,074            121 1,074            

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 2,360,292      849,225        3,561,426          779,684        
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Consolidated entity Parent entity
2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $                       $ $ $
Note 23 – Related party transactions

Australian Ethical Investment Limited is the ultimate parent entity and owns 100% of Australian Ethical 
Superannuation Pty Ltd.

Australian Ethical Investment Limited acts as the responsible entity for the Australian Ethical Trusts
(Australian Ethical Balanced Trust, Australian Ethical Smaller Companies Trust, Australian Ethical Income Trust,
Australian Ethical Larger Companies Trust, Australian Ethical International Equities Trust, Australian Ethical
World Trust, Australian Ethical Property Trust and the Climate Advocacy Fund).

Australian Ethical Superannuation Pty Ltd acts as trustee for the Australian Ethical Retail Superannuation Fund.

Transactions between related parties are on commercial terms and conditions no more favourable than
those available to other parties unless otherwise stated.

Australian Ethical Superannuation Pty Ltd
a) Transactions between Australian Ethical Investment Limited and its wholly owned entity, Australian Ethical 
    Superannuation Pty Ltd during the financial year consisted of:

(i) Transactions whereby Australian Ethical 
Investment Limited provides management services 
to the wholly owned entity on a cost recovery basis -                     -                    6,167,594          3,892,705     

(ii) Transactions between Australian Ethical 
Investment Limited and its wholly owned entity 
under the tax consolidation and related tax sharing 
agreement referred to in note 1(b). -                     -                    148,818             673,117        

(iii) Transactions whereby Australian Ethical 
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(iii) Transactions whereby Australian Ethical 
Investment Limited collects management fee 
income on behalf of wholly owned entity and on-
pays this management fee income to the wholly 
owned entity on a monthly basis. -                     -                    6,401,445          5,987,343     

(iv) Transactions whereby Australian Ethical 
Investment Limited receives a dividend from the 
wholly owned entity referred to in note 3. -                     -                    1,665,953          1,797,057     

b) Outstanding balances at end of period:

Amounts receivable from wholly owned entity:
Taxation and other -                     -                    67,601               78,324          

Amounts payable to wholly owned entity:
Management fee income -                     -                    -                         496,388        
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ende d 30 June 2011

Consolidated entity Parent entity
2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $                       $ $ $
Note 23 – Related party transactions  - continued

Australian Ethical Trusts
a) Transactions between Australian Ethical Investment Limited, as responsible entity, and the Australian 
   Ethical Trusts during the financial year consisted of:

(i) Transactions whereby Australian Ethical 
Investment Limited provides investment services 
to the Australian Ethical Trusts in accordance with 
the trust deed.
- Australian Ethical Balanced Trust 3,459,096      3,563,536     3,459,096          3,563,536     
- Australian Ethical Smaller Companies Trust 4,039,271      3,842,863     4,039,271          3,842,863     
- Australian Ethical Income Trust 360,548         327,041        360,548             327,041        
- Australian Ethical Larger Companies Trust 1,717,663      1,964,631     1,717,663          1,964,631     
- Australian Ethical International Equities Trust 1,442,241      1,017,719     1,442,241          1,017,719     
- Australian Ethical World Trust -                     14,026          -                         14,026          
- Australian Ethical Property Trust 296,802         136,068        296,802             136,068        
- Climate Advocacy Fund 23,775           510                23,775               510                

(ii) Transactions whereby Australian Ethical 
Investment Limited provides accounting services 
to the Australian Ethical Trusts in accordance with 
the trust deed.
- Australian Ethical Balanced Trust 253,495         274,208        253,495             274,208        
- Australian Ethical Smaller Companies Trust 204,500         220,101        204,500             220,101        
- Australian Ethical Income Trust 88,251           94,591          88,251               94,591          
- Australian Ethical Larger Companies Trust 130,247         140,969        130,247             140,969        
- Australian Ethical International Equities Trust 102,249         110,550        102,249             110,550        
- Australian Ethical World Trust -                     15,572          -                         15,572          
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- Australian Ethical World Trust -                     15,572          -                         15,572          
- Australian Ethical Property Trust 34,201           18,362          34,201               18,362          

(iii) Transactions whereby Australian Ethical 
Investment Limited seeks expense reimbursement 
from  the Australian Ethical Trusts in accordance 
with the trust deed.
- Australian Ethical Balanced Trust 26,885           40,599          26,885               40,599          
- Australian Ethical Smaller Companies Trust 32,012           46,764          32,012               46,764          
- Australian Ethical Income Trust 1,963             3,873            1,963                 3,873            
- Australian Ethical Larger Companies Trust 20,885           30,272          20,885               30,272          
- Australian Ethical International Equities Trust 4,502             1,933            4,502                 1,933            
- Australian Ethical World Trust -                     2,808            -                         2,808            
- Australian Ethical Property Trust 121                9                    121                    9                    

(iv) Transaction whereby Australian Ethical 
Investment Limited received a distribution payment 
from the Australian Ethical Balanced Trust 4,665             2,695            4,665                 2,695            
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Note 23 – Related party transactions  - continued

b) Outstanding balances at end of period:

Amounts receivable from the Australian Ethical 
Trusts in relation to investment services, 
accounting services and reimbursable expenses:
- Australian Ethical Balanced Trust 438,059         85,327          438,059             85,327          
- Australian Ethical Smaller Companies Trust 491,102         304,836        491,102             304,836        
- Australian Ethical Income Trust 93,853           62,394          93,853               62,394          
- Australian Ethical Larger Companies Trust 235,973         150,125        235,973             150,125        
- Australian Ethical International Equities Trust 168,801         156,617        168,801             156,617        
- Australian Ethical World Trust 6,501             5,908            6,501                 5,908            
- Australian Ethical Property Trust 64,300           63,816          64,300               63,816          
- Climate Advocacy Fund 6,992             191                6,992                 191                

Value of units held by Australian Ethical 
Investment Limited in the Australian Ethical 
Balanced Trust 233,479         227,064        233,479             227,064        

Value of units held by Australian Ethical 
Investment Limited in the Climate Advocacy Fund 106,386         98,858          102,452             98,858          

Distribution receivable from Australian Ethical 
Balanced Trust 3,316             6,057            3,316                 6,057            
Distribution receivable from Climate Advocacy 
Fund 3,482             718                3,482                 718                
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Fund 3,482             718                3,482                 718                
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Note 23 – Related party transactions  - continued

Australian Ethical Retail Superannuation Fund

a) Transactions between the Consolidated entity 
and the Australian Ethical Retail Superannuation 
Fund during the financial year consisted of:

(i) Transactions between Australian Ethical 
Superannuation Pty Limited and the Australian 
Ethical Retail Superannuation Fund related to 
investment services/ (rebate of investment 
services.) 232,201         112,330        -                         -                    

(ii) Transactions between Australian Ethical 
Superannuation Pty Limited and the Australian 
Ethical Retail Superannuation Fund related to 
contribution fee/ (rebate of contribution fee) 1,026,450      1,191,919     -                         -                    

(iii) Transactions between Australian Ethical 
Superannuation Pty Limited and the Australian 
Ethical Retail Superannuation Fund related to 
member admin fee/ (rebate of member admin fee) 697,654         536,221        -                         -                    

(iv) Transactions between Australian Ethical 
Superannuation Pty Limited and the Australian 
Ethical Retail Superannuation Fund related to 
other reimbursables/ (rebate of other 
reimbursables) 226,299         50,839          -                         -                    

Outstanding balances at end of period:Outstanding balances at end of period:

Amounts receivable from/ (payable to ) the 
Australian Ethical Retail Superannuation Fund:

(i) Investment services/ (rebate of investment 
services fee) 52,372           14,415          -                         -                    

(ii) Contribution fee/ (rebate of contribution fee) 175,916         236,967        -                         -                    

(iii) Member admin fee/ (rebate of member admin 
fee) 350,798         268,872        -                         -                    

(iv) Other reimbursables/ (rebate of other 
reimbursables) 37,623           762                -                         -                    

Terms and conditions
No provision for doubtful debts has been raised in relation to any outstanding balances and no expense has 
been recognised in respect of bad or doubtful debts due from related parties.

Outstanding balances are unsecured and are repayable in cash.
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AUSTRALIAN ETHICAL INVESTMENT LIMITED A.B.N. 47 003 188 930 AND CONTROLLED ENTITY

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2011

Note 24 - Key management personnel compensation

a) Key management personnel 
Names and positions of key management personnel (directors and named executives) at any time during the financial year

Parent entity directors
Name Position
James Thier Director, executive Retired 17 November 2010
Howard Pender Director, executive
Naomi Edwards Director, non-executive Resigned 23 March 2011
Justine Hickey Director, non-executive
Les Coleman Director, non-executive
Stephen Newnham Director, non-executive Appointed 20 December 2010
André Morony Chairperson, non-executive
Phillip Vernon Managing Director ,executive Appointed 27 July 2010

Other key management personnel
Name Position
Gary Leckie Chief Financial Officer
Tim Xirakis Head of Client Relationships Resigned 8 August 2011
Philip George Head of Product & Client Services
Paul Harding Davis Head of Distribution Resigned 5 January 2011
James Jordan Chief Investment Officer

b) Key management personnel compensation    

2011 2010 2011 2010
$ $ $ $

Short term employment benefits 1,698,879           1,866,314          1,661,759          1,809,139            
Post-employment benefits 151,363              158,141             148,016             153,731               
Other long-term benefits 19,073                21,010               19,073               21,010                 
Termination benefits 57,459                235,000             57,459               235,000               
Share-based payments 127,143              175,747             127,143             175,747               
Total compensation 2,053,917           2,456,212          2,013,450          2,394,627            

Further key management personnel remuneration details are included in the Remuneration Report section of the Directors' Report.

c) Equity instrument disclosures relating to key management personnel

Option holdings
Number of options held by key management personnel.

KMP options holdings Option Class
Balance at 
beginning of year No. granted No. expired

No. vested & 
excercised

Balance at end of 
year

Vested at 
end of year

Vested & 
excercisable at 
end of year

Vested & un-
excercisable at 
end of year

Parent entity directors
James Thier AEFAT 1,517                  - ( 1,517) - -                      1,517            1,517                 -

AEFAV 1,364                  - - - 1,364                   - - -
2011 Total 2,881                  - ( 1,517) - 1,364                   1,517            1,517                 -
2010 Total 4,313                  - ( 1,432) - 2,881                   1,432            1,432                 -

Howard Pender AEFAT 1,513                  - ( 1,513) - -                      1,513            1,513                 -
AEFAV 1,326                  - - - 1,326                   - - -

2011 Total 2,839                  - ( 1,513) - 1,326                   1,513            1,513                 -

Economic Entity Parent Entity
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2011 Total 2,839                  - ( 1,513) - 1,326                   1,513            1,513                 -
2010 Total 4,308                  - ( 1,469) - 2,839                   1,469            1,469                 -

Philip George AEFAT 2,469                  - ( 2,469) - -                      2,469            2,469                 -
AEFAU 2,169                  - - - 2,169                   - - -

2011 Total 4,638                  - ( 2,469) 2,169                   2,469            2,469                 -
2010 Total 6,994                  - -                         ( 2,356) 4,638                   2,356            2,356                 -

Gary Leckie AEFAT 1,767 - ( 1,767) - - 1,767            1,767                 -
AEFAU 1,919 - - - 1,919                   - - -

2011 Total 3,686 - ( 1,767) - 1,919                   1,767            1,767                 -
2010 Total 5,129 - ( 1,443) - 3,686                   1,443            1,443                 -

Tim Xirakis AEFAT 1,776 - ( 1,776) - - 1,776            1,776                 -
AEFAU 1,895 - - - 1,895                   - - -

2011 Total 3,671 - ( 1,776) - 1,895                   1,776            1,776                 -
2010 Total 5,058 - ( 1,387) - 3,671                   1,387            1,387                 -

Paul Harding Davis AEFAU 1,060 - - - 1,060                   - - -
2011 Total 1,060 - - - 1,060                   - - -
2010 Total 1,060 - - - 1,060                   - - -

James Jordan AEFAT 1,146 - ( 1,146) - -                      1,146            1,146                 -
AEFAU 1,243 - - - 1,243                   - - -

2011 Total 2,389 - ( 1,146) - 1,243                   1,146            1,146                 -
2010 Total 2,389 - - - 2,389                   - - -

Named executives (including other key 
management personnel)
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AUSTRALIAN ETHICAL INVESTMENT LIMITED A.B.N. 47 003 188 930 AND CONTROLLED ENTITY

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2011     

Note 24 - Key management personnel compensation - continued

Rights holdings
Number of Rights held by key management personnel.

KMP Rights Holdings Rights Class
Balance at 
beginning of year No. granted No.forfeited

No. vested & 
excercised

Balance at end of 
year

Vested at 
end of year

Vested & 
excercisable at 
end of year

Vested & un-
excercisable at 
end of year

Parent entity directors
James Thier AEFAY - 689                   - - 689                      - - -

AEFAW 319                     - - - 319                      - - -
2011 Total 319                     689                   - - 1,008                   - - -
2010 Total - 319                   - - 319                      - - -

Howard Pender AEFAY - 736                   - - 736                      - - -
AEFAW 320                     - - - 320                      - - -

2011 Total 320                     736                   - - 1,056                   - - -
2010 Total - 320                   - - 320                      - - -

Phillip Vernon AEFAY - 2,481                 - - 2,481                   - - -
AEFAW 317                     - - - 317                      - - -

2011 Total 317                     2,481                 - - 2,798                   - - -
2010 Total 317                   - - 317                      - - -

Philip George AEFAY - 985                   - - 985                      - - -
AEFAW 501                     - - - 501                      - - -

2011 Total 501                     985                   - - 1,486                   - - -
2010 Total - 501                   - - 501                      - - -

Gary Leckie AEFAY - 1,008 - - 1,008                   - - -
AEFAW 506                     - - - 506                      - - -

2011 Total 506                     1,008                 - - 1,514                   - - -
2010 Total - 506                   - - 506                      - - -

Tim Xirakis AEFAY 982                   - - 982                      - - -
AEFAW 493                     - - - 493                      - - -

2011 Total 493                     982                   - - 1,475                   - - -
2010 Total - 493                   - - 493                      - - -

Paul Harding Davis AEFAY - - - - - - - -
AEFAW 531                     - ( 531) - - - - -

2011 Total 531                     - ( 531) - - - - -
2010 Total - 531                   - - 531                      - - -

James Jordan AEFAY - 868                   - - 868                      - - -
AEFAW 409                     - - - 409                      - - -
AEFAX 862                     47                     - ( 909) - 909               909                    909                      

2011 Total 1,271                  915                   - ( 909) 1,277                   909               909                    909                      
2010 Total - 1,271                 - - 1,271                   - - -

Share holdings
Number of shares held by key management personnel.

Parent entity directors
Balance  at 
beginning of year

Acquired / 
Granted as 
Remuneration

On exercise of 
options/ rights

Net Change 
other (1)

Balance at end of 
year (2) & (3)

James Thier 2011 65,846                - - 730                    66,576                 

Named executives (including other key 
management personnel)
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James Thier 2011 65,846                - - 730                    66,576                 
2010 65,846                - - - 65,846                 

Howard Pender 2011 51,883                - - ( 1,200) 50,683                 
2010 52,283                - - ( 400) 51,883                 

Justine Hickey 2011 700                     - - 500                    1,200                   
2010 700                     - - - 700                      

Named executives (including other key management personnel)

Philip George 2011 1,104                  - - - 1,104                   
2010 489                     - - 615                    1,104                   

Gary Leckie 2010 - - - - -
2009 - - 1,387                 ( 1,387) -

Paul Harding Davis 2011 1,598                  - - ( 838) 760                      
2010 78                       - - 1,520                 1,598                   

James Jordan 2011 - - 909                    - 909                      
2010 - - - - -

(1) "Net change other" incorporates changes resulting from purchases, sales, forfeitures during the year.
(2) Shares issued are fully paid
(3) Balance represents shareholdings by key management personnel including their
    related parties as required by AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures

Key management personnel loans

Balance at 
beginning of year Interest charged

Interest not 
charged Write-off

Balance at end 
of year

No. of Individuals 
at end of year

Key management personnel $ $ $ $ $

2011 43,358.14             1,860.30             - - 12,250.11          1

2010 - 1,697.65             - - 43,358.14          2

(a) The Loan is repayable on 30 November 2013 and currently bears interest at 7.8 % per annum that is the FBT interest rate set by the ATO.

(b) In the 2010 -11 reporting period,  there were no loans to individuals that exceeded $100,000 at any time.
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AUSTRALIAN ETHICAL INVESTMENT LIMITED A.B.N. 47 003 188 930 AND CONTROLLED ENTITY

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2011     

Note 25 - Share based payments     
The following share-based payment arrangements existed at 30 June 2011:

ASX Code
AEFAY

AEFAZ

Performance rights reconciliation 2011 2010 2011 2010

                                                20,582  - employment must continue until 30 June 2013                                                             - 
the arithmetic average return on equity over the performance period (‘AROE’) must 
exceed 15% p.a. or no shares shall be awarded at the end of the performance period;
 - if the AROE exceeds 15% p.a. but is less than 20% p.a., half the maximum number of 
shares shall be awarded;                                                                                        - if the 
AROE is equal to or greater than 20% p.a. the maximum number of shares shall be 
awarded.                                                                                                                   - 
AROE is determined as the arithmetic average of return on equity over six month periods 
calculated using audited half-year financial statements.                                      - The 
performance period is the financial years 2010/11, 2011/2012 and 2012/2013.

4,760  - employment must continue until 1 July 2011;
 - the number of shares that will be issued to each employee in respect of their 
performance rights under this category will be adjusted up or down by a maximum 20%, 
dependent on the absolute performance of one of the company's managed investment 
schemes, for which the employee has responsibility or provides significant input; a 
managed investment scheme has been agreed between the company and the employee. 
Performance will be measured over a performance period of 1 July 2010 to 30 June 2011

Consolidated Entity Parent Entity

On 14 October 2008, 41,937 share options were granted to non-probationary employees under the Australian Ethical Investment Limited employee share ownership plan and on 1 
December 2008, 2,690 share options were granted to executive directors. The options were issued for nil consideration, are exercisable from 14 October 2011, have an exercise 
price of $32.27 each and a three month window in which to be exercised. In most circumstances the options will lapse if the holder is no longer an employee of Australian Ethical 
Investment Limited.  The options hold no voting or dividend rights. 

During this reporting period, Australian Ethical Investment Limited issued 4,772 ordinary shares on conversion of 4,772 AEFAX performance rights for nil consideration issued under 
its employee share incentive scheme in November 2009 .This conversion of performance rights resulted in an  increase in ordinary shares of 4,772.    

During the 2010 reporting period, 10,819 performance rights (identifier: AEFAW) were granted. Under the Australian Ethical Investment Limited employee share incentive scheme 
(ESIS) participants are granted performance rights to ordinary shares, subject to meeting specified performance criteria over the performance period. The number of shares that the 
participant will ultimately receive will depend on the extent to which the performance criteria are met by the company and the individual employee. These rights were issued for nil 
consideration. These rights hold no voting or dividend rights. Subject to the terms and conditions of the ESIS rules, the performance rights have the following attributes determining 
whether shares will be issued in respect of the rights.    
 - employment must continue until 30 June 2012     
 - the arithmetic average return on equity over the performance period (‘AROE’) must exceed 15% p.a. or no shares shall be awarded at the end of the performance period;     
 - if the AROE exceeds 15% p.a. but is less than 20% p.a., half the maximum number of shares shall be awarded;     
 - if the AROE is equal to or greater than 20% p.a. the maximum number of shares shall be awarded.     
 - AROE is determined as the arithmetic average of return on equity over six month periods calculated using audited half-year financial statements     
 - The performance period is the financial years 2009/10, 2010/11 and 2011/12     

During the reporting period 25,432 performance rights in two classes (identifiers: AEFAY and AEFAZ) were granted. Under the Australian Ethical Investment Limited employee share 
incentive scheme (ESIS) participants are granted performance rights to ordinary shares, subject to meeting specified performance criteria over the performance period. The number 
of shares that the participant will ultimately receive will depend on the extent to which the performance criteria are met by the company and the individual employee. These rights 
were issued for nil consideration. These rights hold no voting or dividend rights. Subject to the terms and conditions of the ESIS rules, the performance rights have the following 
attributes determining whether shares will be issued in respect of the rights.    

Number Granted Attributes
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Number Number Number Number
of of of of 

Rights Rights Rights Rights

Outstanding at the beginning
of the financial year 14,476                - 14,476               -

Granted 25,569                16,330               25,569               16,330                 
Forfeited ( 2,857) ( 1,854) ( 2,857) ( 1,854)
Exercised ( 4,772) - ( 4,772) -
Expired - - - -

Outstanding at year-end 32,416                14,476               - 32,416               14,476                 

Exercisable at year-end -                          -                        -                         -                        -                          

Fair value - Rights

All rights were calculated at grant date based on the underl;ying share prices minus estimated net present value of future dividends that the holders 
of rights are not entitled to.

Weighted average fair value - Options

Consolidated Entity Parent Entity
2011 2010 2011 2010

Weighted Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average Average

Number Exercise Number Exercise Number Exercise Number Exercise
of Price of Price of Price of Price

Options $ Options $ Options $ Options $

Outstanding at the beginning
of the financial year 68,682                  44.00                  116,777             40.76                 68,682               44.00                   116,777        40.76                 

Granted - -                      -                        32.27                 - -                      -                   32.27                 
Forfeited ( 4,435) 32.27                  ( 16,956) 42.78                 ( 4,435) 32.27                   ( 16,956) 42.78                 
Exercised -                           -                      ( 1,585) 31.00                 -                        -                      ( 1,585) 31.00                 
Expired ( 31,853) 57.57                  ( 29,554) 31.00                 ( 31,853) 57.57                   ( 29,554) 31.00                 

Outstanding at year-end 32,394                  32.27 68,682               44.00 32,394               32.27 68,682          44.00                 

Exercisable at year-end -                           -                          -                        -                         -                        -                          -                   -                        

The options outstanding at 30 June 2011 had a weighted average exercise price of $32.27 and a weighted average remaining
contractual life of 0.54 years.  Exercise price for options outstanding at 30 June 2011 is $32.27
Included under employee benefits expense in the income statement is : 
$75,860 (2010: $190,602) relating to options issued under the employee share ownership plan.
$180,045 (2010: $124,633) relating to rights issued under the employee share ownership plan.
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AUSTRALIAN ETHICAL INVESTMENT LIMITED A.B.N. 47 003 188 930 AND CONTROLLED ENTITY

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2011     

Note 26 - Financial instruments

(a) Financial risk management

(b) Interest rate risk

2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
                    %                     %                     $                     $                     $                     $

Cash and cash equivalents 5                           4                         2,554,389          1,892,434           -                        -                          
Trade and other receivables -                        -                          
Financial assets 5                           5                         481,764             485,040              14,659               513,401               

Total financial assets 3,036,153          2,377,474           14,659               513,401               

Trade and other payables -                        -                         -                        -                          

Total financial liabilities -                        -                         -                        -                          

2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
                    $                     $                     $                     $                     $                     $

Cash -                           -                          300                   300                    2,554,689          1,892,734            
Trade and other receivables -                           -                          3,245,297          3,050,029           3,245,297          3,050,029            
Financial assets 61,820                  100,505              -                        -                         558,243             1,098,946            

Total financial assets 61,820                  100,505              3,245,597          3,050,329           6,358,229          6,041,709            

Trade and other payables -                           -                          2,587,710          2,495,424           2,587,710          2,495,424            

Total financial liabilities -                           -                          2,587,710          2,495,424           2,587,710          2,495,424            

(c) Credit Risk

within 1 to 5 years

The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at balance date to recognised financial assets is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for impairment of 
those assets, as disclosed in the balance sheet and notes to the financial statements.

Quantitative details related to financial assets is contained in note 9.

effective interest rate rate within 1 year

Fixed interest rate Non-interest bearing Total

The consolidated entity’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents (note 7), trade and other receivables (note 8), financial assets (note 9) and trade and other payables (note 14).

The main purpose of these financial instruments is to finance the consolidated entity’s operations. The consolidated entity has various other financial assets and liabilities such as 
trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The consolidated entity’s exposure to interest rate risk, which is the risk that a financial instrument’s value will fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest rates and the effective weighted average 
interest rates on classes of financial assets and financial liabilities is as follows:

Weighted average Floating interest rate Fixed interest
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(d) Liquidity risk

Consolidated Entity Parent Entity
2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $                        $ $ $

Less than 6 months 2,019,037           1,994,991          1,806,802          2,158,627            
6 months to 1 year 535,327              500,433             535,327             500,433               
1 to 5 years -                          -                        -                        -                          

2,554,364           2,495,424          2,342,129          2,659,060            

    - Minimum amount to be held in cash, AAA securities or senior bank debt is fifty per cent of the portfolio; and
    - Minimum amount to be held in cash, AAA securities, senior bank debt, rated corporate debt or subordinated bank debt to be eighty per cent of the portfolio.

The group carries no borrowing debt on the balance sheet and has sufficient reserves of cash, cash equivalents and liquid investments to assess the liquidity risk as low. The cash position and cash 
flows are reviewed by executive management to ensure regulatory and future operational requirements are catered for.

Trade and other payables are expected to be paid as follows:

Quantitative details related to financial assets is contained in note 9.

In relation to the financial asset – loan to independent entity – disclosed at note 9, the loan agreement between the parent entity and the independent entity provides for the parent to enforce a security 
over the independent entity’s assets should a default in loan payments occur.  The independent entity has not defaulted in loan payments over the six years of the loan.

Consideration of credit risk in relation to financial assets is incorporated into executive management risk considerations.  The defined investment parameters governing the approval of financial asset 
investments incorporates a sliding scale of risk exposure as follows:

    - The maximum exposure to any one issuer is to be no greater than twenty five per cent of the portfolio;  
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AUSTRALIAN ETHICAL INVESTMENT LIMITED A.B.N. 47 003 188 930 AND CONTROLLED ENTITY

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2011

Note 26 - Financial instruments - continued

(e) Net Fair Values

For other assets and other liabilities the net fair value approximates their carrying value.

(f) Sensitivity analysis

Consolidated Entity Parent Entity
2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $                        $ $ $
Change in profit
 - Increase in interest rate by 2% 60,723                47,555               55,597               18,402                 
 - Decrease in interest rate by 2% (60,723) (47,555) (55,597) (18,402)

Change in equity
 - Increase in interest rate by 2% 60,723                47,555               55,597               18,402                 
 - Decrease in interest rate by 2% (60,723) (47,555) (55,597) (18,402)

The group has performed a sensitivity analysis relating to its exposure to interest rate risk.  This sensitivity analysis demonstrates the effect on the current year results and equity which could result from 
a change in the interest rate (all other variables remaining constant).  The sensitivity analysis is based only on cash and investments subject to a floating interest rate.
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AUSTRALIAN ETHICAL INVESTMENT LIMITED A.B.N. 47 003 188 930 AND CONTROLLED ENTITY

DIRECTORS' DECLARATION

The Directors of Austalian Ethical Investment Limited declare the following:

the directors' report designated as audited are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 :

(a)   comply with accounting standards, which, as stated in accounting policy note 1 to the financial statements, 
constitutes explicit and unreserved compliance with international financial reporting standards (IFRS); and 

year ended on that date of the company and consolidated entity;

section 286 of the Corporations Act 2001 ;

(c)   the financial statements and notes for the financial year give a true and fair view.

debts as and when they become due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

Phillip Vernon
Managing Director
Dated this 31 August 2011

1.    the financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 20 to 50 and the additional disclosures in 

(b)   give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2011 and of the performance for the financial 

2.    the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Finance Officer have each declared that:

(a)   the financial records of the company for the financial year have been properly maintained in accordance with 

(b)   the financial statements and notes for the financial year comply with the Accounting Standards; and

3.    in the directors’ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF AUST RALIAN ETHICAL 
INVESTMENT LIMITED 

ABN:  47 003 188 930 

 

 
Report on The Financial Report  
 
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Australian Ethical Investment Limited, 
which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2011, and the statement of 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the 
year then ended, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies, other 
explanatory information and the directors' declaration of the company and the consolidated  
entity comprising the company and the entity it controlled at the year- end or from time to 
time during the financial year. 
 
Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report  
 
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that 
gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the 
Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary 
to enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.  In Note 1 the directors also state, in accordance with 
Accounting Standard AASB 101: Presentation of Financial Statements, that the financial 
statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
Auditor's Responsibility  
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those Standards 
require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is 
free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation of the financial report that gives 
and true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well 
as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our audit opinion. 
 
Independence  
 
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001. 
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Opinion  
 
In our opinion: 
 

(a) the financial report of Australian Ethical Investment Limited is in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001; including: 

 
(i) giving a true and fair view of the Company’s and Consolidated Entity’s 

financial position as at 30 June 2011 and of their performance for the year 
ended on that date; and 

 
(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations 

Regulations 2001; and 
 

(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
disclosed in Note 1. 

 
Report on the Remuneration Report  
 
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 10 to 18 of the directors’ report for 
the year ended 30 June 2011.  The directors of the Company are responsible for the 
preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance with Section 300A 
of the Corporations Act 2001.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing 
Standards. 
 
Opinion  
 
In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Australian Ethical Investment Limited for the year 
ended 30 June 2011, complies with Section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
 
 

      
                                   THOMAS DAVIS & CO. 
       

     
 

  
                      J G RYAN                 PARTNER 
       
       

     
                              Chartered Accountants 
 

       
SYDNEY,       
31 August 2011      
       
 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 


	1. ASX Announcement 31 August 2011v5.pdf
	Annual Report 30 June 2011 as at 31 Aug.pdf
	Annual Report 30 June 2011 as at 30 Aug.pdf
	Annual Report 30 June 2011 as at 30 Aug.pdf
	Annual Report 30 June 2011 as at 30 Aug.pdf
	2. Appendix 4E.pdf
	3. ASX Results for Announcement to the Market Covering Note 30.06.11 v4 28.8.11.pdf
	4. Directors_Report_300611 29 August 2011 v5.pdf
	5. Remuneration Report - 2011 V5.pdf
	AEI_-_INDEPENDENT_AUDIT_DECLARATION_-_AEIL_2011  for page 19.pdf
	6. financial statements report1 v5.pdf
	7. Statement of changes in equity final v4.pdf
	8. Note 1 110630 final v4.pdf
	9. Note 20 Segment reporting v4.pdf
	10. financial statements report2_final v5.pdf
	11. AEIL Audit Report 2011.pdf

	11. AEIL Audit Report 2011.pdf

	11. AEIL Audit Report 2011.pdf
	AEI_-_INDEPENDENT_AUDIT_DECLARATION_-_AEIL_2011  for page 19.pdf

	5. Remuneration Report - 2011 V5.pdf




